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(The hearing commenced at 12:55 p.m)

CHAI RVAN STEIN: Ladi es and gentlenen, like to call
to order neeting of the Connecticut Siting Council.
Today, Tuesday, June 13th, 2017, approxinmately 1:00 p.m

My nane is Robin Stein, | am Chairman of the
Connecticut Siting Council. This evidentiary session is
a continuation of a public hearing held on May 2nd, 2017
at the Menorial Town Hall, Legislative Council Chanbers
in Hamden. It is held pursuant to provisions of Title
16 of the Connecticut General Statute, and of the
Uni form Adm ni strative Procedure Act upon an application
fromCellco Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wreless for
Certificate of Environnental Capability and Public Need,
for the construction, maintenance and operation of a
t el econmuni cations facility located at 208 Kirk Road in
Handen, Connecticut. Application was received by the
Council on March 3rd, 2017. Verbatimtranscript wll be
made of this hearing and deposited with the Town derk's
O fice in the Handen Town Hall for the conveni ence of
t he publi c.

We will proceed in accordance with the prepared
agenda, copies of which are avail able by the door. W
will begin wth the appearance of the applicants Cellco

Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wreless, to verity their new
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exhi bits marked as Roman nuneral 2, item B9, 10 and 11,
Iin the hearing program

Attorney Bal dwi n, woul d you pl ease begi n by
verifying the new exhibits you fil ed?

MR. BALDWN.  Certainly, M. Chairman, thank you.
Just a point of reference, M. Chairman, item1ll is a
Suppl emental Hearing Subm ssion that | prepared. It
certainly lists the exhibits that the witnesses are
famliar with, and I'll ask themto verify it, but it is
not a docunent that any of those w tnesses prepared. It
was sinply a listing of the additional exhibits for the
Council's benefit, for the benefit of the hearing
program But with that caveat, |'ll ask ny w tnesses;
Wth respect to Exhibits 9 and 10 listed in the hearing
program and again those are the applicant's response to
t he Second Set of Siting Council's Interrogatories dated
May 23rd, the second set of Patricia Sorrentino's
Interrogatories, dated May 30th. D d you prepare or
assist in the preparation of those responses to those

two exhibits, M. CGustafson?

MR GUSTAFSON: Yes.

MR. BALDWN. M. Libertine?
MR LI BERTI NE: Yes.

MR. BALDWN:. M. Weinpahl?
MR. VEI NPAHL:  Yes.
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MR, BALDW N: M. Couch?

MR, COUCH: Yes.

MR. BALDWN. M. Befera?

MR. BEFERA:  Yes.

MR. BALDWN. M. Laredo?

MR, LAREDO  Yes.

MR. BALDWN:. And do you have any corrections,

nodi fi cati ons or anendnents to offer to any of these

exhibits at this tine? M. Qustafson?

MR GUSTAFSON: No.

MR. BALDWN. M. Libertine?

MR. LI BERTI NE: No.

MR, BALDW N: M . Wi npahl .

MR, WVEI NPAHL: Yes. W have one correction Cellco

Exhi bit Nunber 9, attachnments 1, 4 and 5. There is
di stance to a residence at the bottom of the draw ng,
ref erences to Cornacki (sic) residence; it should be the
Pet er ki n resi dence.

MR. BALDWN. That is all, sanme correction for al
three of those maps?

MR, VEI NPAHL:  Yes.

MR. BALDW N. Thank you. M. Couch, any
corrections?

MR, COUCH:. No.

MR. BALDWN. M. Befera?
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MR. BEFERA: No.

MR. BALDWN. M. Laredo?

MR LAREDO No.

MR. BALDWN. And with those corrections, is the

information true and accurate to the best of your
know edge, M. Qustafson?
MR GUSTAFSON:  Yes.

MR. BALDWN. M. Libertine?
MR LI BERTI NE: Yes.

MR. BALDWN. M. Wi npahl ?
MR VEI NPAHL:  Yes.

MR, BALDW N: M. Couch?

MR, COUCH: Yes.

MR. BALDWN. M. Befera?

MR. BEFERA:  Yes.

MR. BALDWN. M. Laredo?
MR LAREDO  Yes.

MR. BALDWN. And do you adopt the information in

those exhibits as your testinony today in this

proceedi ng? M. Qustafson?

MR GUSTAFSON: Yes, | do.
MR. BALDWN. M. Libertine?
MR LI BERTI NE: Yes.

MR, BALDW N: M. Wi npahl ?
MR, VEI NPAHL:  Yes.
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MR, BALDW N: M. Couch?

MR, COUCH: Yes.

MR. BALDWN. M. Befera?

MR. BEFERA:  Yes.

MR. BALDWN. M. Laredo?

MR. LAREDO. Yes, | do.

MR. BALDWN. M. Chairnman, | offer them as ful
exhi bi ts.

CHAI RVAN STEI N: Does any party or intervener
object to the adm ssion of the applicant's new exhi bits?

MR, COHEN:. Ms. Sorrentino has no objection, Your
Honor .

CHAI RMAN STEIN:  Thank you. W will now begin with
cross-exam nation, first by staff. M. Mercier?

MR. MERCIER:  Thank you. | reviewed the
suppl enental visibility analysis that was in the
responses to counsel's set two interrogatories,
visibility analysis is actually in attachnent seven, but
| amactually going to flip to attachment si x.

MS. BACHVAN:. M. Mercier, is your m crophone on?

MR. MERCIER Attachnent six was an areal
phot ogr aph showi ng the now three proposed sites and a
rejected site on the host property. And, M. Libertine,
what | was hoping to get fromyou was your anal ysis of

the visual inpact of the two alternate sites, one and
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two, fromthe abutting properties along the south edge
of the host property at Country Club Drive. So | ooking
left to right, the addresses are 46, nunber 50, there is
a cul -de-sac and then nunber 41 and 35. So if you could
just please summari ze what your opinion is as to what
the visibility would be for each of the alternate sites.

MR. LIBERTINE: Sure. |If a Council renenbers
during the site wal k, where the original proposed site
was | ocated, what we attenpted to do was to push
alternate sites as far north on the two-acre property as
far as possible to provide as nmuch separated di stance.

At the sane tine, we were trying to bal ance not taking
down or minimzing any trees that m ght need to be
cleared to acconmpbdat e t he conpound.

So as we nove to alternate site one, that was
pushed a few hundred feet to the northeast of the
original proposed site. That is out of the edge of, I
guess I'll call it the base of the Christnas tree field.
And al t hough there woul d be sone clearing required, the
trees that would have to go are not, would not provide
any screening to the south, and, in fact, they are all
on what | call the north side of the compound. So from
t hat perspective, it is also at, still at a relatively
| ow el evation on the site, although it is a little bit

raised fromthe original site, but the conbination of
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noving it to the north and not having the roadway cone
in fromwhat I'lIl call the, along the sout hwest portion
of the site which would have required tree cutting,
significant tree cutting, we would instead conme in
directly off of Country Club Road, nore or less cut the
grade in the open field and then head down towards the
nort hwest portion of the site to that alternate site one
| ocati on.

All that being said, it essentially does a couple
of things for all of the properties along the Country
Club Drive area. One, the further distance certainly
provi des sone nore relief in terns of just a direct
di stance, but nore inportantly, again, we are
mai ntaining all of the vegetation, or primarily all of
t he vegetation off of Country Club Drive. It would
require, still, a fairly tall pole. It is 150 feet, as
opposed to the 160 steel pole that was at the originally
proposed site, but we are essentially tal king about the
sane level in the air.

Site one, fromny perspective, standing on it and
| ooki ng back towards any of those residences, we really
could not see any of themthrough the field and through
t hat vegetative buffer. So the real benefit to that
site is the fact that you would not be seeing any of the

conpound from any of those properties. There certainly
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woul d be views of the upper portions of the pole during
| eaf -of f conditions, but right now when the | eaves are
on the trees, | amfairly confident that you are not
going to see anything. Qbviously, | did not have the
opportunity to be on the private property, but from al
the |l ocations along the actual cul-de-sac, you really
had to ook to see the balloon in the air. So it's a
fairly effective spot in terns of hiding the vast
majority of the pole and certainly all of the conpound.

As we nove to the east, up the escarpnent there,
t hat basalt ridge, is fairly elevated, so it is al nost
at grade when we cone in off of Country d ub Road.
Utinately the site two |location is elevated a bit above
the Country Club Drive ground elevation. It also has a
fairly decent vegetative buffer between the areas, but
because of the elevated height, | believe that the
conmpound woul d require sone | evel of vegetative
screeni ng or landscaping to really cut the views down or
per haps, | know we di scussed privacy slats at the | ast
heari ng.

So | think in the case of alternate site
two, certainly nore of the facility is going to be
visible. Again, during the, during this time of year
when the | eaves are on the tree, it is fairly nuted. It

would be a little bit nore visible than site one, but
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certainly when the | eaves are off the trees, there would
be an opportunity to ook directly in to the site and
see pretty nuch all of the facility fromcertain

| ocations. Qbviously, you would still have sone

buf fering, but w thout the | eaves you would be able to
see through a lot clearer.

So from ny perspective, when we kind of eval uated
everything in the totality, | felt as though alternate
site one, fromny perspective again, aesthetically,
provides the nost relief fromdirect views or direct
lines of site, in particular because we are really
keeping all of the equipnent and the | ower portion, nore
than half of the pole, not really being able to be seen
fromthose | ocations.

MR. MERCIER: Ckay. Just to summarize sone of the
t hings that you just said. For alternate two, would any
portion of that tower be visible above the trees from
any of those abutters, that is nunber 46, 50, 41 and 35,
do you believe? O is this going to be sone seasonal
views, neaning |leaf off?

MR, LIBERTINE: What we saw in the field | eads ne
to believe that it will not eclipse the trees from any
of those locations, that would be seeing the top of the
pol e through trees, certainly.

MR. MERCIER R ght. But nothi ng above?
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MR. LI BERTI NE: Not hi ng above.

MR. MERCI ER. Looki ng at photos one and two of your
visibility analysis. | know you had sone sinulations
there, and there are sone fairly large trees obscuring
the tower at points. And once, if it was approved and
the road went off Country Club Drive, say alternate one
or two, there would be sone clearing at the end of the
cul -de-sac, would that affect the views that are
presented in these two pictures?

MR, LIBERTINE: In the pictures we are show ng,
they would be slightly affected. Sonme of the snaller
trees in that photo, particularly center right in photo
one, if we are |looking at site two, it would be
slightly. But the vast mgjority, certainly the |large
trees, we designed the road such that we woul d not be
t ouchi ng t hose.

MR. MERCIER: Ckay. So |ooking at photo one, you
know, it is centered between two |large trees. So | am
assum ng you are stating that the road could fit between
those two | arge trees?

MR, LIBERTINE: That is how we -- and we purposely,
when we were in the field, |ooked at that and worked
wth the property owner or that very issue, because
certainly that was our concern.

MR. MERCIER But all that understory there, that
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woul d be gone?

MR, LIBERTINE: A portion of it, not all of it,
because we are creating a serpentine effect. So your
direct line of site would not be right in, unobstructed
to the, to the site area. So if you took an inaginary
| ine, actually, and you turn to the sinulation that goes
withit, you will notice that you tend to | ose the
bottom portion of the pole in this shot. | think what
is going to occur is that sone of the foreground, what
"1l call the understory, between those two centered
trees that nore or less frame the tower, | think in the
I mmedi ate foreground you are going to | ose sone of that,
but what 1'Il start, maybe 30 or so feet in, a |ot of
that is going to be nmintai ned because of the curvature

of the road.

So, yes, to answer your question, yes, it will be
affected, but it will not be a direct open shot.
MR MERCIER: | believe in this view, it would

bend, it would go left and then right.

MR, LIBERTINE: That's correct.

MR MERCIER: Al right. Thank you. One other
thing, | think you nentioned, actually, it is also in
your narrative of the visibility analysis, was that the
alternate site one conpound woul d not be visible from

nost | ocations off the host property. And | amjust
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curious about, this is alternate one again, the
properties at 46 and 50, what woul d be effectively
bl ocki ng their view of the conpound, and | guess, | ower
portion of the tower if you could see the conpound?

MR, LIBERTINE: And if you don't mnd, if you could
just -- | don't have the addresses on ny --

MR. MERCIER: Go back to attachnent six. And 46 is
the far left.

MR. LI BERTI NE: Ckay.

MR MERCIER: And 50 is right next to that.

MR, LIBERTINE: Right. The reason | use that
| anguage is | hate to use absolutes to say no one can
see it. | did not have an opportunity to go and step
over the property lines and | ook back to nake absol utely
sure, you know. Certainly there is an opportunity if
you know what you are |ooking for during |eaf-off
condi tion and | ooki ng through both the buffer and the
Christmas tree farmthat is there today, it is possible
that you could see a portion fromthose two properti es.
Maybe at the back rear lot line, that type of thing.

| think it is highly unlikely, again, we |eaves
were starting to cone out, we flew on May 5th, so sone
of the early | eaves were already out, as you can see in
t he photographs. But fromwhat | could see, it was, |

could not see either of the structures on those
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properties standing at the closest spot, | guess the
Sout hern portion of where we had staked out or were

pl anning to stake out the conpound for alternate site
one. So | amfairly confident that that | ocation

provi des the screening that | think we were | acking when
we had originally proposed the site further to the west,
particul arly because we were bringing down trees.

So I'"'mconfident that if there are views, they are
going to be very, very selective. And, again, you would
really have to | ook through that area to see it.

MR. MERCIER: Ckay. Thank you. Now when you are
traveling north fromBear Path Road up Country C ub Road
towards the site, what is your sense of visibility of
strai ght-on shots above the tree line, if any.

MR. LIBERTINE: There will be, there will be an
opportunity to see a very top portion of the tower, and
| just wanted to orient nyself, particularly with
respect to site two. |If you | ook at photo nunber four,
that is right at the intersection of Bear Path and
Country Club Drive. It would be the southern extent of
the cul -de-sac. And again, it is perspective, because
you are set back a little bit and you have an
opportunity to see it just eclipse the trees. You don't
necessarily get that sane perspective with site one,

just because its orientation on the site, it's
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effectively bl ocked by sonme of that vegetation that is
there, and it does sit just slightly |ower overall.

So, | guess | characterize it that there would be
t he opportunity year-round to see it just above the
treeline, certainly at site two. Alternate site two.

MR. MERCIER  So as you cone around the corner and
go up to the cul -de-sac, you are stating that, you know,
sone portions of antenna array at the very top could be
vi si bl e.

MR, LIBERTINE: There would be froma --

MR. MERCIER: Going up the road. All right.

MR. LIBERTINE: And as you know, as you cone down
Country Club Drive, that tends to lose a little bit of
el evation, so that changes that perspective pretty
dramati cal ly.

MR MERCIER Let's see. At the previous hearing
there was sone tal k about, for the original proposed
site, a tree tower design. Do you believe any tree
tower design in any of these two sites would be
beneficial? G ven that one of them | guess, is 130
feet now, and the other one we are 150.

MR. LI BERTI NE: Yeah, we have 150 alternate site

16

one and then, | believe, alternate site two cane down to

120.
MR. MERCI ER: 120, excuse ne.
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MR. LIBERTINE: | have thought | ong and hard about
this on this site. M personal feeling is that at site
one, | amnot sure, with the exception of the potenti al
for being able to see through during the winterti ne,
there m ght be sone benefit in having a nonopi ne there,
but for the nost part | don't see that.

For site two, | have been going back and forth in
ny m nd about how to really address this, because one
part of nme says, well, there is probably going to be
nmore visibility associated with sonething at alternate
site two, so perhaps using a nonopi ne woul d work.
However, | amnot sure, you know, in this particul ar
setting, the only conifers we really have are the
Christmas trees at, you know, six to eight feet tall, so
everything else is deciduous. It is, or the vast
maj ority of them are deciduous trees in that area. So
the context is a little bit inconsistent. But overall,
woul d there be sone benefit? Yes, there would be
certainly some benefit. | don't knowif it puts it over
the top to have to go down that road, but that's just ny
own opi ni on.

MR. MERCIER: Thank you. One other question | had
was on your visibility mapping at the end, it was
t opogr aphi c map and areal photograph, that is with the

yel |l ow and orange col ors that denote seasonal and
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year-round visibility. But for year-round visibility it
ki nd of centered around the tower sites, alternate one
and two. | just notice that to the north of the site
there was actually quite a bit of year-round visibility
mar ked but that was kind of a wooded area, so | wasn't
sure as to why that was marked as such, given that the
sout hern area was marked simlarly.

MR, LIBERTINE: Well, that's conputer nodeling,
partly. It is taking into account the fact that if you
go to the north and off the property, that particul ar
wooded bl ock does not have an enornous anount of
understory init. It is not quite as robust as to the
south. | don't know why that is, but that just happened
to be. So | believe that is probably the nost |likely
reason why we are getting a little bit nore showing to
the north. Basically because, again, the nodel predict
whet her or not you can see any portion of that through
these trees. Wre are assunmng that, in the, in that
case that we would have that ability to see through it.
That is the only reason | could see for that type of
di splay on this.

MR. MERCIER: Does elevation play in to your
nodel ing at all?

MR. LIBERTINE: Certainly, yes.

MR. MERCI ER  Ckay.
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MR, LIBERTINE: That tends to rise there too, a
little bit, so that may be anot her reason why the nodel
pi cked that up.

MR. MERCIER: Now regarding the access road off the
cul -de-sac, | understand there was a chain gate
proposed, with two bollards on the side supporting the
chain. It is possible that such as a decorative wood
fence could be installed there, a wood gate, for that
matter.

MR. BEFERA: Absol utely.

MR, MERCIER. And | had one other question on
Council's responses. The responses, set two of
Council's interrogatories, response 32. That had to do
wth downlink speeds and coverage needs of the site.

Let me just flip to that. That's on page six.

There was a table three, called LTE data
per formance. Looking at the table, | understand, you
know, only one of the six surrounding sectors there neet
Cell co's downl oad speed criteria. The top one there,
Handen east. Once this site is operational, proposed
site, assumng it was approved, would all five of the
deficient sectors neet Cellco's dowlink speed criteria
or could that be determ ned or not?

MR. LAREDO It is too early to determ ne the exact

anount of inprovenent, but definitely it will yield
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great anount of inprovenent because it opens
opportunities for us to optimze the entire area and
t hat al ways brings better downlink performance.

MR MERCIER: Ckay. So it, if this site was
operational Cellco would go out and optim ze the site?

MR. LAREDO. Correct.

MR MERCIER So it would boost the downlink speed,
but naybe not to the threshold you are | ooking for, but
maybe one or two, but you wouldn't know until the site
I's operational, is what you are stating?

MR. LAREDO There's correct.

MR. MERCIER Ckay. | have no other questions at
this tinme. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:  Thank you. W will now proceed
w th questions fromnenbers. Starting wth Senator
Mur phy.

MR MJRPHY: M. Libertine, on the alternate nap of
alternate | ocations one and two, there is also a three.
Did you do any work at all on three? It is there and, |
nmean, why is it there if you didn't do anyt hi ng?

MR, LIBERTINE: Well, at one point, and I am not
sure who brought it up, we were asked to take a | ook at
that location. Alternate site three, which is in red on
that particular exhibit, that goes up on anot her hei ght

of land in the northeast corner of the property owner's
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parcel. And in speaking with himduring the site walKk,
we were out there for several hours, it becane clear
that that particular location is going to be converted
for cultivation of another cash crop. And so, because,
because it is the nost arable | and on the property he
would i ke to reserve that for that to have sone
diversity in his agricultural endeavors.

So, although we did take a hard ook at it, we
spent several, well, spent quite a bit of tinme up there,
| ooki ng at access, |ooking at the lay of the | and,
although it is technically feasible to construct and to
access that, there are sone considerations that would
have to be taken. One would be access com ng off of
Kirk Road. It's a very steep assent into that area. So
it would require quite a bit of grading. And it does
push the location away from Country Club Drive, but we
start picking up sone other nearby residences to the
east and to the south. | believe RF could live with
about 100 feet there, so it is less steel in the air,
but because of its higher elevation, we are still
tal king about a |ine of sight.

MR. MJURPHY: So you still end up with the sane.

MR, LIBERTINE: Right. And fromny perspective,
al though we didn't fly a balloon there, certainly

standing up there and then driving the area and bei ng
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famliar with that |ocation, it becane clear to ne that
it is such a prom nent spot, that although we woul d have
a shorter tower overall, | think it may actually be
sonmewhat nore visible to nore fol ks just because of its
actual | ocation.

MR. MJURPHY: Ckay. You answered ny question when
you said you didn't fly --

MR, LIBERTINE: W did not. The property owner
rejected the --

MR, MJURPHY: But your estimate is it is nore
vi ewabl e than either of the other three.

MR, LIBERTINE: Right. And honestly, when we were
on the site and we had the other ball oons up, alternate
site one really seened to solve a |lot of the chall enges
that we were faced with com ng out of the first hearing.
And so, because the property owner just felt as though
alternate three was really not anywhere close to his
first, second or third preference, we decided at that
point, well, let's just focus on these others and make
sure sonet hi ng wor ks.

MR. MJURPHY: So, independent of the what the | and
owner m ght have thought, in your opinion that was not
as good as say, alternate one.

MR. LIBERTINE: Yes. Absolutely. | would agree

wth that.
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MR. MJURPHY: Ckay. Thank you for that. Wen we
were i n Handen, | asked the question about wlling to
cap this tower at the 160 feet and agree that it would
not be extended. And now we have two alternatives, one
at 150 and one at 120. |Is the sane agreenent avail able
on either or both of those.

MR. BEFERA: Absol utely.

MR MJRPHY: So if the Council were to pick any one
of these three, they would be agreeable to it being part
of the decision that that would be the maxi num hei ght of
this tower?

MR. BEFERA: Yes, sir.

MR. MJURPHY: Ckay. Thank you. Turning to the
charts on page five, which is kind of thing that I
t al ked about when we were at the first hearing. How did
Verizon arrive two percent?

MR. LAREDO  Sorry, just want to clarify, you are
referring to table one, stats for Hanmden northeast --

MR, MJURPHY: Well, the standard -- excuse ne -- is
0.75, right, two percent -- | amsorry. How did you
arrive at the 0.75?

MR. LAREDO First of all, I would like to correct
information that | m sspoke during |last hearing. It is
about the 0.5 percent drop call rate target that we had.

| spoke with ny manager and ny peers about, collectively
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as a group, and as a narket, we are actually using 0.75
percent for the sector level drop call rate stats that
we are using. W are using nmany tools in evaluating
probl enms, and the nunber that | nentioned in the
previous hearing is based fromthat. And the conpany
envi sions to i nprove our service further.

MR. MJURPHY: Ckay.

MR. LAREDO  Based from --

MR. MJURPHY: The 0.75 percent as your standard, is
that a standard for just Connecticut or standard
el sewhere, as wel | ?

MR. LAREDO It is a standard for New Engl and.

MR. MJURPHY: New Engl and.

MR, LAREDO  Yes.

MR, MJURPHY: Ckay. So for sone of the states with
| ocations where it's quite level, it is a different
standard, would that be correct? Depends on the terrain
and sone other factors.

MR. LAREDO There are nmany factors. Mst of them
are nore stringent then what we are using, actually.

MR, MJURPHY: Ckay.

VR. BEFERA: If I may add, Senator --

MR, MJRPHY:  Yes.

MR. BEFERA: When | ooking at these charts, and

seeing both a drop call percentage and seei ng an
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I neffective attenpt percentage, right? Now thinking in
terms of the custoner experience, the custoner doesn't
know that they can't nake a call, whether it is

i neffective attenpts or a dropped call, and the custoner
shoul dn't need to know. So you can essentially --

MR. MJURPHY: But you're upset when it happens.

MR. BEFERA: You could essentially add those
per cent ages together and say, that total percentage is
the inability of the custoner to make or maintain a
call. So in terns of the custoner experience, these two
per cent ages can be added. So it is not just one or the
ot her and those percentages. You know, it is the
percent age of ineffectiveness of the network, | guess,
Is the point | amtrying to make.

MR, MJURPHY: Ckay. And the other thing I was
interested in, and I think Dr. Kl enens kind-of foll owed
up on that, these statistics that you have given for the
different sectors on these towers, what is, what is,
what are they the percentage of? How many calls are
goi ng t hrough during that week or how many does, on the
top one, the 0.58 percent, represent. | nean, how busy
are these towers.

MR. LAREDO. To sumit up, for the entire |ist of
sectors that | provided in the set of

interrogatories, there is a total of 70,000 voice cal
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attenpts for that week of May 7th to May 13th. 152 of
them are ineffective attenpts and a total of 1,130
dropped calls were generated. And you can inmagi ne that
any of these --

MR, MJRPHY: Ckay. So the long and short of it
I's, the six sectors here, 70,000 calls in a week in that
sector, in those six sectors added together.

MR. LAREDO  Those six, yes.

MR. MJURPHY: That's kind of the information that |
was | ooking at, to get a picture of, you know, how
serious is the nunber of dropped calls.

Ckay. | think right now, M. Chairnan, that is al
| have. Thank you very nuch.

CHAI RVAN STEIN:  Dr. Kl enens?

MR. KLEMENS: Thank you, M. Chairman. | nean, the
whol e i ssue of dropped calls I'll |leave to ny other
col | eagues, because | live in a part of the state where
every call | nmake gets dropped within two or three

m nutes of driving down ny road. So | am not the nost
synpat heti ¢ when | hear about 70,000 calls and a
fracti onal percent are dropped.

But I want to talk to you about sone, | amgoing to
want to talk to you about your alternate sites. And the
first is a comment. | nean, |ooking at alternates one

and two, and | don't know where alternate three cane




© o0 ~N oo o b~ w N

N N N N N o o e
oa A~ W N P O © 00 N oo 0o~ O w N -+ O

27

fromin the hearing either, because |I know we tal ked in
the field about noving it into, on the basalt ridge or
way out of the woods. | don't know where alternate
three cane from But looking at this, and this is a
comment, | nean, we spent a lot of tine, you spent a | ot
of time designing this proposed site and it is so clear
by | ooking here, that there was a nmuch better | ocation
for these, for this tower than the proposed site. There
is less road building, there is |less grading, there is
|l ess tree clearing. | amkind of benused that we
actually went forward with this one and hadn't actually
brought those forward to us initially.

Havi ng said that, | have got a couple of questions
about the alternate sites one and two. Alternate site
two is going to require the | east anobunt of gradi ng and
road building; is that correct?

MR. VEEI NPAHL: That is correct.

MR. KLEMENS: Alternate site two is going to
require the | east anount of steel.

MR. VEI NPAHL: Correct.

MR. KLEMENS: So alternate site two is probably, if
you tal k about the actual cost of erection, if you are
going to have a tower, this is probably the nost cost
effective site to put this tower.

MR VI NPAHL:  Agr eed.
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MR. KLEMENS: Ckay. Alternate site nunber
three, which we have never saw, can sonmeone explain to
me how the soils there are different fromwhat | saw on
the site? Because | saw Christmas trees basically dug
into, it was a traprock ridge, in little wells. Can you
tell me, M. Libertine or M. Qustafson, what that soi
Is that has been represented as nuch nore arable, can
you descri be that for the record, please?

MR, GUSTAFSON:. Yeah, it is deeper glacial till, so
t he depth to bedrock --

MR. COHEN: W cannot hear him

MR. GQUSTAFSON: The | ocation of the property
identified as site three, has deeper glacial till soils.
So it is a greater depth to bedrock, significantly
deeper than where site two is |ocated or where the
access along that basalt ridge line where you actually
have sone exposed rock, bedrock. So it contains nore,
hi gher quality arable soils in relationship to site two.

MR. KLEMENS: Al right. Now, we have had a | ot of
di scussion in the record about if the tower were to fall
down, and then hit trees and then go on the nei ghbor's
property. | would certainly, | understood sonme of the
argunents on the proposed site. But if, let's just for
argunent sake, the tower was to fall down in one or two

toward the nei ghborhood, would it fall totally within
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t hat open field, nore or |ess?

MR. BEFERA: Yes.

MR. KLEMENS: Not that | necessarily think it wll,
but that was brought up as a concern that it, if you
renmenber, that it would fall and then it would fall on
trees and the trees would end up going toward Ms.
Sorrentino's house. So this whole issue there, if it
were to fall, it would fall into an open area, it
woul dn't have a domi no effect on trees?

MR. BEFERA: No. And alternate site one, | am
| ooki ng at Ri chard's neasurenents here, the distance
fromthe proposed tower |l ocation at alternate site one
and two, the Sorrentino residence is 347 feet and the
distance to the closest -- yes, it is in excess from
any, it is in excess of 300 feet from any resi dence at
alternate site one. And | also did the research that
you asked ne to do last tine on any history of towers,
cell towers collapsing --

MR, KLEMENS: Yes.

MR. BEFERA: -- in New England. Wuld you |like ne
to tell you what | found?

MR. KLEMENS: | would wel cone that, please.

MR. BEFERA: Ckay. Wll, just to preface that,
just to preface that, Verizon, or any of our | egacy

names t hat we operated under beforehand, you know, we
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have been buil ding towers in New Engl and since around
1981, '82, so about 35 years. W own or are tenant on
over 2000 towers in New England. Now, a cell phone
tower, in nmy opinion, is a tower that was built for
cellul ar conpanies to use. But we al so go on existing
towers that m ght be owned by TV stations, radio
stations, those kinds of things.

Well, | didn't find not one occurrence in New
Engl and where a cel | phone tower coll apsed at the base
and fell its full height. Wat | did find, were two
i nstances of tower failure. One was a cell phone tower,
a nonopole, simlar to our proposal, whether it is a
tree or it is a nonopole, a fake tree or a nonopole, it
Is a nonopole. It is just a nonopole wth branches on
it. There was about 100-foot nonopole in Wll esley,
Mass in 2009 -- now, because when these poles are
desi gned, they are designed with such a | evel of
conservatism that even if it was a three-carrier pole,

where there are three | ocations of ports for the coaxes

30

to cone out of the pole because they run the coax, for a

cl ean | ook you run the coax inside the pole, and you
cone out at the three |locations on the three-carrier
pol e, because they are designed with such conservatism
sonetines a fourth carrier wll cone al ong and say, |

want to go on that pole. WlIl, the structural analysis,
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dependi ng upon what the three, first three carriers have
on the pole, a lot of tines it works. So what they have
to do is they have to cut with welding nmateri al s,

wel ding tools, cut ports in that fourth slot that they
want to go on. R ght.

Now, in this instance in Wellesley, they were
cutting ports into a fourth slot because structurally
the tower could handle it. They did not insulate the
coax sufficiently. 1t is done a |lot where ports are
successfully cut into towers for a new |l ocation, but in
this instance, they didn't insulate it sufficiently.

The coax caught on fire and, nore or less, nelted the
steel to the point where the tower did, as | said at the
| ast, at the beginning of this hearing, it bent into
itself. It did not collapse conpletely, it just, where
it was nelted, they taper up, that weak point where the
fire was, towards the top, nelted enough where the tower
just bent into itself, by then the fire is out,
everything is cool ed down and not hi ng el se happened.

Now, there was anot her occurrence in 2014. It was
a radio tower up on Florida Muwuntain in North Adans,
Mass. | don't know the radio station, he is our
| andl ord, we are a tenant on the new tower that was
repl aced here, but there was heavy wi nds and a rainstorm

up on Florida Mountain in 2014 and Corey Thurston, the
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owner of this radio station, apparently was rem ss in
the mai ntenance of this lattice tower, not a nonopol e,
but a lattice-type structure, and one of the |egs
sheared off at the anchor plate and caused that tower to
fall into another tower that was there, because it was
kind of like a tower farmthere, fell into the guy wres
of the tower next to it and both towers went down.

O her than those two instances, | was unable to,
now, and that second one | would not classify as a
cel |l phone tower, that was a radio station tower that we
j ust happen, us and AT&T happened to be tenants on.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:  Thank you. M. Lynch, | think has

a foll ow up.

MR. LYNCH | have got a foll ow up question,
questions. | actually understood nost of what you said,
M. Befera. But, | have seen towers coll apse, nostly

lattice towers, that were also telecomtowers. Now, is
there a greater frequency for a lattice tower, guy or
un-guyed, to collapse, than a standard nonopol e? That
I S one question.

MR. BEFERA: | was unable to find any data. W
were just | ooking at New England in our searches, so
am not sure outside of New Engl and what those statistics
m ght be. But these were the only failures that | was

able to find.
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MR. LYNCH Okay. | can't testify, so I'll just
ask anot her question. The, | know that the towers are,
nonopol es are designed to collapse in, onto thensel ves,
but ny question relates to, not the pole itself, but the
apparatus that are on the pole. If we have a hurricane,
t or nado, earthquake, whatever, nane sonething, you
know, what is the likelihood in the high wind, that sone
of these antennas wll be blown off the tower onto, you
know, they can becone projectiles into sonebody's house
or around the nei ghborhood, that is a concern of m ne.
And | have been asking this question for 20 years. M.
Baldwin will tell you that.

MR. BEFERA: | am not aware of an occurrence where
any apparatus attached to a tower, a cell phone tower, a
nmonopol e, because cel |l phone towers are very rarely over
200 feet, you know. And, of course, the highest w nds
are at the highest height. So apparatus falling off of
a TV tower that mght be a 1400 foot TV tower, | have no
know edge of that whatsoever. Wat | do know is Verizon
W reless sites, which are where our apparatus, antennas
and so forth, are nounted at a height no nore than 200
feet above ground in 99.9 percent of the instances, we
have never had a situation where a piece of our
equi pnmrent has been installed inproperly to the point

where it has flown off in any type of storm
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MR. LYNCH  Okay. Well, | was just curious,
actually. | have been asking this question for a whil e,
so thank you very nmuch.

MR. BEFERA: Thank you.

CHAI RVAN STEIN: Dr. Kl enens.

MR. KLEMENS:. Thank you for doing that, because
this issue cones up and | amglad to have sonme research
now that we can point to in a docket about this issue.
| appreciate it. | have no further questions, M.
Chai r man.

MR. BEFERA: Thank you. M. Hannon?

MR. HANNON: Thank you, M. Chairman. | do have
sone questions. On the May 23rd submttal, and | don't
know why it cane to ne at this point in time, but is
there natural gas available in the street?

MR, VEEI NPAHL: Not aware if there is.

MR. HANNON: If there is natural gas available in
the street, would you be willing to put in a natural gas
back-up generator, rather than diesel fuel?

MR. BEFERA: W would be wlling to put in a
nat ural gas generator, instead of a diesel fuel
generator. It may involve, because it has to be run
under ground and we know that the site has sone | edge, or
quite a bit of, quite a bit of |edge that we saw on the

site wal k, you know, that may involve sonme noi sy
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construction, but | amsure it can be done. And if it
Is a condition of a potential approval, then we are all
for it.

MR. HANNON: Thank you. Attachnent one, nmap C3,

t al ks about the proposed Cellco eight-foot high, tongue
and groove green vinyl fence or other colors, that to
replace the originally proposed chain |Iink fence,
correct?

MR. COUCH. That is correct.

MR. HANNON: Attachment four, map C2A. Sort of
the, | guess the western nost portion, when you cone to
t he peak of the driveway, then going down to the
conpound, that is a 20 percent slope and it's virtually
all paved, is that correct?

MR. COUCH: That's correct.

MR. HANNON: So, | amassunming, so | don't want to
assune, therefore | amasking, in terns of what | am
seeing on that map, | think there is a, sone of the

storm wat er detention basins that being proposed just
south of the conpound, is that how!l amreading it?
MR. COUCH. That's correct.
MR. HANNON: That ought to be interesting, but
then -- okay. So I'll just go on to the next one, the
attachnment five, map CG-2B. There we are only dealing

wth a seven-foot slope, | believe, so that is
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relatively nodest. So when you are dealing with a seven
percent slope for a driveway, versus a 20 percent, what
ki nd of problens are you elimnating by going to the
seven percent fromthe 20? For exanple, like, with
energency equi pnent, things of that nature. | nean, |
amsure the last thing you would want is if there
happened to be a fire at the station, you got a fire
truck com ng down a 20 percent grade that is al nost al
ice and it can't stop until it goes through the
conmpound. Those are things that can happen because |
t hought nost nunicipalities don't like to see grades
above 12, maybe 15 percent.

MR. COUCH. Handen has a 15 percent driveway sl ope.
We have certainly designed driveway grades for cel
towers on its occasi onal use nmuch steeper than
20 percent. The question would be on its, the
| i kel i hood of the fire departnent goi ng down the sl ope
or whether it would need to go down the | ope to address
the fire or whether it would be able to address the fire
at the top of the slope. But in certain circunstances,
it would be, it would be, it could be problenmatic.

MR. HANNON: And this is just, sort of, a general
questi on, does the Town have a requirenent where the
first 10 feet of a driveway is paved?

MR COUCH Wth a driveway.
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MR. HANNON: Ckay. The reason | am asking is,
because | have seen situations in the past where, when
you are not dealing with regul ar routine day-to-day
traffic, maybe for an energency entrance to a
site, instead of going in with pavenent, what devel opers
have done is put in, sort of, a hollow checkerboard
concrete where they can backfill with dirt. You grow
grass on it, the structure is strong enough to be able
to support the heavier equipnment, but it also doesn't
| ook |'i ke somebody has just run a road through there. |
mean is this sonething that mght be a possibility to do
for a cell tower.

MR COUCH If the Town of Hanmden would be willing
to accept it, it would certainly be acceptable to the
desi gn.

MR. HANNON: Thank you. And then this is the
question | have for M. Libertine. On map four, | don't
know if you did this deliberately or if it just happened
by circunmstance, because | had to ook at it a couple of
times to get the full flavor of it. Looking at photo
four, the first one when you identify site two, and that
is what caught nmy eye, is the little notice for the site
two, when you see the balloon. GCkay. |If you go to the
second page, when | | ooked at that, ny first reaction

was that cell tower is pretty exposed fromthe base, al
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the way up to the top, because you al nost |ined that up
perfectly so it | ooks as though the existing tel ephone
pol e, which is wood, is the base for that tower. So |
am just wondering if that was done deliberately or --

MR, LIBERTINE: ©Ch boy, | wish | could say that I
had done that for everybody's entertai nnent val ue, but
that was just pure, you know what, |uck. Unfortunately.

MR. HANNON: Ckay. Because the first tine | |ooked
at it, ny reaction to that was, holy cow, | can't
believe it is this visible at that location. So |I am
glad I went back and | ooked further.

MR. LI BERTI NE: Yes, absolutely.

MR. HANNON: | have no ot her questions. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN STEI'N:  Thank you. M. Lynch?

MR, LYNCH. Just two followup questions. One from
a question that Senator Mirphy asked about capping the
tower. | believe you said you could cap the tower.

MR. BEFERA: W coul d purchase the tower that, from
the manufacturer, that is not designed for an extension.
MR. LYNCH Okay. Well, thanks for clarifying

that. But ny question nowis, under the FAA can't
anot her carrier cone along and request to go on the
tower at a higher height of, you know, |I think it is 10
percent higher or sonething? |If you design the tower to

only be 150 feet, how would you get around that problem
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MR. BEFERA: Well, if we were the owner of the
tower, we could say no, you can't. You have to go bel ow
us.

MR, LYNCH Al right.

CHAI RVAN STEIN:  You know, that is contrary though
to both Connecticut policy, where we prefer to have
sharing rather than a separate tower. And also, | am
not sure whether there is, how the FCC would --

MR, LIBERTINE: It is actually the FCC, not the

FAA.

MR. LYNCH. Ch, sorry. Excuse ne.

MR, LIBERTINE: | think you are correct, that there
Is that --

MR. LYNCH. The gang of five.

MR COUCH. Well, you know, | amtrying to
accommobdat e one request, while at the same tinme, you
know, what | really should consider is to not be
contrary to the policy know ng that, should anot her
carrier want to put an extension on this tower, they
woul d have to conme before you for approval. So you
woul d ultinmately have the deci sion on whether or not you
would allow this two to be extended or not. So | still
could put a tower that is, has the ability to be
extended, and the decision would still be in your hands.

CHAI RMAN STEIN: | think you should really check
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the FCC law on this. It is not a discretionary, and it
Is Federal Law. It is not sonething that we are maki ng
up, so you, before you nake these statenents, which
think are only partially correct, sonewhat m sl eading, |
t hi nk, but maybe I'll -- since | amnot an attorney, not
get into hot water. Let nme ask our executive director
to cooment. W didn't say, | didn't say it was a
requirenent. But | just said, | don't think we have the
di scretion.

MS. BACHVAN.  Thank you, M. Chairman. In
Cct ober 2014, the FCC issued a report a report and order
regarding eligible facilities requests nodification to
existing facilities that are nondi scretionary to state
and | ocal authorities, if they neet certain criteria.
An extension of the height, by either ten percent or 20
feet, whichever is greater, if it's less than that, it
Is not a substantial nodification to the height and the
tower, and therefore it is nondiscretionary.

| f AT&T comes along, | understand M. Befera that
you represent Verizon and you are perfectly anenable to
the fact that you don't want the tower to be any higher.
Unfortunately, if AT&T cones to us with an eligible
facilities request, and even though you say no, they can
cone to us and ask for a feasibility proceedi ng and say,

we want to share the tower, we want to go at 170 feet,
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under the FCCrules, it is an eligible facilities
request, it is nondiscretionary and we cone to you,
Siting Council, and say; A, determne that it is
feasible for AT&T to increase the height of the tower
and go at 170 feet; and B, issue the favorable ruling on
the eligible facilities request for AT&T that they can
acconplish this under the FCC rul es.

Sol think that is where there is a little bit of

m sunderstanding. | think M. Lynch really pointed it
out. We understand that Verizon would be willing to cap
t he height of the tower. It is just that there is a

possibility that Verizon could be forced to increase the
hei ght of the tower by AT&T or soneone el se comng to us
and maki ng that request under the eligible facilities
request.

MR. BALDWN. Just to be clear, and | agree with
everything that Attorney Bachman said, but at the end
off the day it would be AT&T who woul d be increasing the
hei ght of the tower, certainly not Verizon. And | think
what M. Befera was saying, which he was sinply
respondi ng to Senator Mirphy's statenent that, you
know -- maybe the easier way to answer the question
woul d have been, Verizon needs the height it needs, at
160 feet or 150 feet or 120 feet, that is all it has

interest in. |If sone carrier cones along in the future,
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we don't want to specul ate about what may or nmay not
happen, but | think you're right. As far as the federal
| aw requiring approval of those eligible facilities
requests, that is out of our hands, it is out of the
Counci | ' s hands.

MS. BACHVAN: Thank you, Attorney Baldw n. |
certainly didn't want the residents in the room under
the i npression that the tower hei ght woul d be absolutely
capped and never increase in the future.

MR. BALDW N:  Under st ood.

MR, LYNCH And | want to thank the Chairnman and
Attorney Bachnan and Attorney Baldwin for clearing up ny
questi ons.

MR. COHEN: Excuse ne, M. Chairman, | have no
objection to Attorney Bal dwi n commenti ng or testifying.
| think it is clear that before this Council, on behalf
of Ms. Sorrentino, it is pretty clear that whatever
tower, assum ng that the tower is approved by this
Council, that there has to be an understandi ng and
assunption by those of you who are nmking this deci sion,
that there is a possibility that the tower could be
i ncreased by 10 feet or 20 percent. Thank you.

CHAI RVAN STEI N: M. Lynch?

MR. LYNCH | have two other questions. | think

they are both for M. Laredo. You were talking earlier
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about dropped calls and being in the certain area. MW
question is, is it nore, is it nore of a problemfor you
to have a dropped call or to have a custoner within
t hose areas not being able to generate a call?

MR. LAREDO It actually works both ways, because
as a neasure of reliability, we --

MR. LYNCH Then let ne ask it this way; where do

you get nore custoner conpl aints?

MR LAREDO. OCh -- it is actually both, from
dropped calls and |l ow -- or downlink speed.
MR, LYNCH Okay. Al right. 1'll take that. And

ny next question is, has nothing to do with this docket,

it is an overall question on tel ecommunication. And

that is, | understand that Google is coming out wth
t heir new phone that will, while people are driving,
wll stop themfromtexting. Now, is this sonething

that a service |like Verizon can al so inplenent?

MR. LAREDO It is actually a service that Google
I npl enents. They just use our channel to enabl e that
service to be inplenmented on the user side. So we don't
have any discretion whether it should be inplenented or
not .

MR. LYNCH  So -- okay. Thank you very nuch. No
nore questions, M. Chairman -- oh, | do have a question

on Ms. Sorrentino, on her testinony, but it hasn't been
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i ntroduced as testinony yet. So I'Il wait.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:  We haven't gotten to that yet.
Ckay. | have a question, | guess, relating to traffic
i npacts. How long is the construction period for one of
t hese towers, roughly.

MR, VEEI NPAHL: Two to three nonths.

CHAI RVAN STEIN: Two to three nonths. And --

MR. VEINPAHL: Wth all the inspections required by
t he codes, you know. Drilling, prepping the road.
don't want to shortchange the tineline. It may go a
little quicker than that, but it, there is a process to
it.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:  Roughly. So during that period
there, would it be both vehicles of tradesman or trade
going there, as well as construction equipnent; is that
correct?

MR VEI NPAHL:  Yes.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:  Ckay. Now once construction is
conpleted, what is the traffic generation on a daily,
weekly, nonthly basis?

MR, VEI NPAHL: The |atest we have from I'I1l let
Tony correct this if | msstate it, but | believe
Verizon now, for their field operations group, requires
themto go to the project at | east once every quarter,

unl ess there is an alarm or sonething that goes off and
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they have to go out on the equipnent. But, so naybe
only four tinmes a year soneone may go to the Veri zon
facility. Everything else will just basically run
itself. There is a refueling that has to take pl ace,
that will get also handled, but this isn't a daily or
weekly traffic facility.

MR. BEFERA: Cell technicians are required to go
not | ess than once a quarter in a passenger vehicl e,
typically an SUV. Normal size SUV.

CHAI RVAN STEI N: Ckay.

MR. BEFERA: Not | ess than once a quarter, never
nmore than once a nonth, unless, of course, there is an
alarmof sorts. Now, say natural gas is 600 feet away
and it is going to cost us half a mllion dollars to
bring natural gas to the site, | wouldn't expect us to

be required to do that. Say we end up back at the

45

di esel generator. The diesel generator, unless there is

a case of a power outage where it runs continuously for
a day or two, we run the generator, no matter what type
of fuel type, on a mai ntenance program a half hour
every two weeks. |In the case of this proposed
generator, 20 kilowatt generator, say it is the

di esel, unless there is a power outage, that exercising

won't require refueling of that generator nore than once

a year.
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Now, if there is a power outage, it can run
continuously for up to 67 hours under 75 percent | oad.
In those cases, it may need to be refueled nore often.
But short of the power outage, once a year. And let's
just say, once a nonth for a passenger vehicle for
routi ne site mai ntenance.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:.  And | assune it can be refuel ed by
one truck.

MR. BEFERA: Yes. Yes.

CHAI RVAN STEIN: | amsure it's sonewhere in the
file, but nmaybe sonebody can answer, what is the zoning
of the parcel? | just don't renenber.

MR. BEFERA: R3, | believe.

CHAl RVAN STEIN:  Wiich all ows --

MR. BEFERA: It allows this stuff by speci al
permt. | read that in the wite-up.

CHAl RVAN STEIN:  No, but is that, basically, a
residential zone?

MR. BEFERA: R3 is residential. It is residential
3 and wireless tel econmunication facilities permtted in
all zones subject to approval of special permt --

CHAI RVAN STEIN: Wl l, you are going ahead. My
question is, this site that could al so be devel oped for
single famly houses; is that correct?

MR. BEFERA: Ch absolutely, yes.
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CHAI RMAN STEIN:. And the single famly,
construction of a single famly house, roughly two,
t hree, four nonths depending on --
MR. BEFERA: At |east, m ne took |onger than that.
CHAI RVAN STEIN:  And single famly house, | used to

remenber, but | don't anynore, about the average, |
believe it is daily trip, about two. | think it is two.
Ckay. So in other words, | guess the question is,

traffic would al so be generated if this was devel oped
for single famly hones; is that a correct statenent?
Just have to answer yes or no.

MR. BEFERA: Yes. Daily traffic, | would assune.

CHAI RMAN STEIN: Ckay. Now we have appearance by
the party, Ms. Sorrentino.

MR. COHEN: Thank you, M. Chairnman. On behal f of
Ms. Sorrentino, Burt Cohen, Murtha Cullina, along with
Bridget D Angelo, Murtha Cullina. And | assunme we are
In to cross-exam nation?

MS. BACHMAN:  Attorney Cohen, you can take that
table so that the two of you would be nore confortable.
And Attorney Bal dwi n, perhaps, could cross-exan ne
from - -

MR COHEN. This is fine. |If you want to stay
t here, Ken.

MR. BALDW N: This is cross of Verizon w tnesses,
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t hat where we are?

MS. BACHMVAN. W got ahead of oursel ves.

MR. COHEN: Are we okay?

MS. BACHVAN:  Yes, when we swap out --

MS. D ANGELO  Good afternoon. M/ nane is Bridget
D Angel o, and | represent Patricia Sorrentino.

Referring to the first attachnment of the suppl enent al
prefile testinony, we filed on June 6th, 2017, and
specifically reference pages 22 and 23. Referencing
page 23, where it indicates -- referencing page 23 where
it indicates that call fail rates bel ow two percent are
excell ent, can you explain for the record why you
justify relaying on a 0.75 percent drop call rate as the
basis for you needing this facility.

MR. BALDWN. M. Chairnman, | amgoing to object to
t he question. The information that is being referred to
as the basis of the question is not an exhibit in this
pr oceedi ng.

MR. COHEN: Well, we could, we could introduce Ms.
Sorrentino and have her adopt all these exhibits, but if
M. Baldwin wants to stand on that, we have no objection
to doing that. But it seens a little silly at this
point to do that.

MR. BALDWN Well, it is not silly, it is not an

exhibit in the record. It is also not an exhibit -- we
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wll object, even if Ms. Sorrentino accepts the
exhibit, it is not an exhibit that she prepared, nor is
it something that she can testify to. So | amnot sure
why we need these exhibits in the record after all.
These were attachnents to suppl enental testinony.

think, if the question is, where did Verizon cone up
with the 0.75 standard, that question has been asked and
answer ed by senator Murphy.

CHAI RVAN STEIN:  I'll ask Attorney Bachman to
coment .

MS. BACHVAN:  Attorney Cohen, the docunent that
Attorney D Angelo is referencing is attached to the
interrogatories that were submtted to Verizon from your
client, Ms. Sorrentino, correct.

MR COHEN: To clarify, it was the prefile
testi nony, Attorney Bachman. And prefile testinony
i ndicates that ny client found this on the internet.

And it is out there. By the way, it is a pretty
favorabl e exhibit to Verizon just froma PR perspective.

CHAIRMAN STEIN: | nmean, | think if everybody is
aware of that, | think | amgoing to allow continuation
for whatever, what it's worth. So if you have, one of
your experts want to comment.

MR. COHEN. Thank you, your Honor.

MR. LAREDO  So, basically Verizon, as a conpany,
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stands behind our drop call rate threshold, which is

0.75 percent. | understand, based fromthe attachnent

submitted in the interrogatories relating to the two

percent drop call rate threshold that RootMetric is

usi ng, basically they use that nunber to conpare

different operators. W have our own criteria's. |

nmean, each conpany have their own criteria's.

Root Metric has to cone up with a unified way to conpare
us. The nethods that they are using to collect their
data i s not supervised by Verizon Wreless.

So, in short, that's their data and we eval uate our

own and we based the 0.75 percent from what we see our

net work, based fromour internal statistics. The

nmet hods on how that data is presented, as well, is

different fromhow we | ook at our, the performance of

our network, basically.

M5. D ANGELO Ckay. So is your standard for

Handen hi gher than the rest of the New Engl and regi on?

MR. LAREDO Like what | stated previously, we are

trying to achieve 0.75 percent in the entire New Engl and

and basically, based fromthe perfornmance of all the

surroundi ng sectors, through this proposed vicinity, it
Is actually 1.61 percent. |If I, referring to dropped

call rate for all of those six sectors that are going to

be i nproved by placing this facility in this section of
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Handen. So that's --

MS. D ANGELO  Thank you.

MR, LAREDO. Just want to say, it is way above our
t hr eshol d.

MS. D ANGELO Thank you. Referring to the first
page of the second attachnent of the suppl enental
prefile testinony we filed on June 6th, it was the sane
exhibit that | just referred to. It indicates that
Verizon custonmers report only 1.5 percent of calls being
dropped. Again, | ask the same question, why are you
relying on 0.75 percent of dropped calls as the basis
for your need for the tower.

MR. BALDWN:. Could you just clarify for us, on
t hat page are you tal king about customer reports of that
per cent age?

MS. D ANGELO. So under the bold headi ng, dropped
calls.

MR. BALDW N \What page are we on, again?

M5. D ANGELO The first page of the second
attachnent. It is called Change Wave Research. The
first page of that.

MR. BALDWN. And so, again, sane objection as to
the exhibit, M. Chairman. But in the interest of
novi ng things along, are we tal king about the top table

on page two?
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M5. D ANGELO W are tal king about the dropped
calls heading that is bolded. The first sentence there.

MR. BALDW N  On page two?

MS. D ANGELO No, the first page.

MR. KLEMENS: What page are we | ooking at, please?

M5. D ANGELO So it's the --

MR. KLEMENS:. | have it, but you are on page two or
t hree?

MS. D ANGELO The first page.

MR. KLEMENS: Thank you.

MR. BALDW N But again, that paragraph, | think,
tal ks about custonmer reporting, correct? | amjust
trying to get the wtnesses the right question.

MS. D ANGELO  Correct.

MR. BALDWN. And just to clarify, again, this is
the April 27th, 2010 Change Wave Research report that we
are tal ki ng about ?

MS. D ANGELO That's correct.

MR. LAREDO So, basically, if | read it correctly,
it's, that data is based fromApril 27th of 2010.

During that time we don't, we still don't have, voids on
LTE 700, which is the actual data that was presented, so
we cannot conpare this.

And second, the 1.5 percent dropped call nunber

that they use here, that, this is reported by Verizon
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Wreless custoners, definitely there are a |ot nore
custonmers that weren't reporting those incidents.
So, it is sonmething that we cannot, basically, use.

MS. D ANGELO  Thank you.

MR. BEFERA: It was a different voice service in
2010. It wasn't even the voice service we have now.

MS. D ANGELO Referring to your response to
question 37 of set two of the Council interrogatories
fromMay 23rd, 2017. |In your response you indicated
that refuelling contractors are required to utilize
tenporary spill prevention nmeasures during all
refuelling operations. Describe for the record to what
extent said spill nmeasures are tenporary.

MR. BALDWN. Are tenporary?

MS. D ANGELO  That was the | anguage used in the
response.

MR, BALDWN. | amjust trying, you kind of faded
off there, the last two words of your question were
tenporary --

MR. COHEN. Do you want to read back the question
for us, please.

CHAI RVAN STEIN: W don't have to read it back.
Wiy, don't you just tell us what the question was.
Sonet hi ng about tenporary.

MS. D ANGELO So, in your response, you indicated

53
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that refuelling contractors are required to utilize
tenporary spill prevention neasures during all
refuelling operations. Describe for the record to what
extent said spill neasures are tenporary.

MR, VEEI NPAHL: As it pertains to the generator in
the diesel tank, there is a two-gallon spill contai nnent
system you know, at the top of the tank, which is
connected to an alarmthat if, for sonme reason, the
di esel was left running, it would be notified with an
audi bl e alarmwoul d alert the technician that he has
|l eft the punp running.

The other comment that you are referring to,
don't know if | made that statenent, but naybe Tony can
descri be what el se they are going to do out there for
refuelling.

MR. BEFERA: | don't know where she is referring
to.

MR LIBERTINE: It is actually question 37.

MR. BEFERA: Well, the generator set itself has
that two and a half gallon spill prevention neasure. |
am not aware of refuelling contractors utilizing any
types of berms or anything during the course of a norma
refuelling because that built in spill prevention is
part of the gen set itself. There are berns, there are

refill procedures that we have at diesel sensitive sites
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that include using berns in a tenmporary fashion when
depl oyi ng portabl e generators at diesel sensitive sites
since nost portable generators are diesel. So | don't,
but I don't think that that is what we are tal ki ng about
here. | think what we relay on, on the nmgjority of our
sites, especially those that are not diesel sensitive,
on the spill prevention inherently built in to the
machi ne itself.

MR, LIBERTINE: That may just be an awkward use of
the term | amnot sure what tenporary really neans.
And | am not sure who was responsible for witing this.
| do know that the fuel contractors do have absorbants
and other materials if there were to be sone type of an
overfill that actually went beyond the two gall on
addi ti onal capacity. There, these are things that they
have in all cases of hone residential heating oil, folks
have the same thing. So | think that is probably what
that is referring to, but |I just think the word
tenporary should be struck. Because it is awkward and |
amreally not sure if it has any bearing. |If that hel ps
any.

MS. D ANGELO  Thank you. I n your response to
nunber, question 5A of your Second Set of
Interrogatories fromMs. Sorrentino filed on May 30t h.

As | read your response, snall cells are an alternative.
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A technically feasible alternative. Wile it may not be
your preference, it is still an alternative. Wy
haven't you presented that to the Siting Council as one
of the alternatives to the cell tower?

MR. LAREDO Basically because of the size of an
area that we want to inprove. It is not feasible to
pl ace so many small cells just to be able to cover that.
And as part of our intent to optimze the entire
cluster, it will cone down to so many small cells, but
not actually giving the coverage benefit that we
entirely want to propose for this entire area.

CHAI RMAN STEIN. M. Lynch, a foll ow up?

MR. LYNCH. Just one followup question. If you
utilized snmaller cell sites as in your
interrogatories, or their interrogatories, the, would
that still have to report back to a, one master base
site?

MR. LAREDO Yes. Basically there are sone
equi pnmrent that is |ocated on macro site where the snal
cells are going to be linked to. So it would require
t hat, yes.

MR. LYNCH So the small sites would all be linked
to one, for lack of a better word, nmaster site?

MR. LAREDO. Correct. W call it --

MR. LYNCH. Thank you.
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CHAI RVAN STEI N: | think Dr. KlIenens.

MR. KLEMENS:. Yeah, | have a followup on this
also. As | amreeding this, is it possible to replicate
the | evel of service or gap coverage using these snal
cells, or is there a disconnect between the anmount you
coul d use and the coverage and the effectiveness versus
the tower? | hope | am being clear.

MR. LAREDO Yes. |If we tal k about effectiveness,
definitely. Nothing conpares to placing one single
tower at the right height, penetrating better inside
hones which we want to achieve ultimately in the end.
As opposed to placing nultiple small cells on utility
poles, for exanple, with limted hei ght and vari ous
susceptible to attenuati on because of surroundi ng
structures, like trees and all sorts of residences as an
exanpl e, and especially the topography of the area. So
it is going to be, it is going to cost us a |ot,
basically, fromthat standpoint. And in terns of
net wor k performance, having the right capacity for the
facility that we are deploying is still the nost
effective way.

MR. KLEMENS: Thank you.

MS. D ANGELO M. Laredo, given what you just
testified, are you nodifying your response that was

Indicated in 5A that said, technically it is possible
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that a series of small cell installations could provide
W reless service to the area around the Handen 8
facility?

MR. LAREDO So technically, if we were given the
chance to place small cells on spots where we really
need them it is, it is going to work. But the problem
here is not every area in that section of Handen has
utility poles. So we are, kind of, limted to that
ext ent .

MS. D ANGELO M. Laredo, have you done an
anal ysis on what you just nentioned, and on the cost
differential ?

MR. LAREDO Can you pl ease repeat your question?
Just want to nake | conpl etely under st and.

MS. D ANGELO  Have you perforned an anal ysis on
the cost differential of small cells versus the cel
tower proposed in this proceedi ng?

MR, LAREDO No, | don't.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:.  Excuse ne. | have a foll ow up
question. So if you don't have a utility pole, what
woul d you place the cell tower on? Wuld you have to
have a small tower or sonething? How do you, how do
you, because obviously you -- | amjust trying to
under stand how you would handle it if we were to go the

route of the small sell.
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MR. BEFERA: M. Laredo was answeri ng the question
that it is possible assumng that there are utility
pol es where we woul d need them w t hout equi pnent
conflicts that bar us fromusing them There are
equi pnrent conflicts that exist on the utility pole
I nfrastructure, such as transforners, utility pole
owners don't allow us to go on sites wth those.

Ri sers, utility pole owners don't allow us to go on
poles with those. Junction poles where you have got

li nes going this way and you got |ines ninety degrees
going this way, we can't use those. So even though we
do deploy small cells in areas where it is appropriate,
this is not an appropriate area for such a solution.

But even if we were to explore that possibility, it is
not going to allow us to provide the ubi quitous coverage
that we need for a large area like this, because there
are going to be equipnent conflicts. There are going to
be areas where utilities are run underground and we
don't have utility poles to choose from So it would be
a conpl ex design |leaving smaller holes within the | arge
area that we can take care of with this one facility.
And we are tal king years. Qur coverage issues exi st
today. Qur correspondi ng capacity deficiencies and
demand for our services in this area, exist today. W

are looking to try to acconplish this solution over the
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next 12 nonths. For us to pursue alternative utility
poles fromstart to finish, through the process recently
reinstated by the Public Utilities Regulatory Authority,
we are tal king years for us to even cone close to
duplicating half of what we are | ooking to acconplish
here with this one facility.

CHAI RMVAN STEIN:. | think M. Lynch, do you have --

MR. LYNCH. Yeah, | have one foll ow up question.

In Verizon's network in the past few years, you have
been using snmaller cells, but not on, attached to poles
or, that you were tal king about M. Befera, but they are
on buildings. And they, would that be, ny question
then, first part of it, would that be a different
scenario then putting themon the poles if you could
find buildings that woul d be adequate for your needs and
your network?

MR. BEFERA: |If there were a 12-story buil ding on
this property, we would go on this 12-story buil di ng
that isn't on this property.

MR. LYNCH Al right. Let nme back up. Because
t hese small facility, towers that you have been doi ng,
have been in nuch snaller buil dings, you know, one or
two stories, and, you know, they have been utilized, and
they are actually in your network right now. W have

approved the, M. Baldw n has been out there, we know.
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That is what | amtal king about, not sonething that is
on, that you see all the tine on 12-story buildings with
t he antennas. That is what | amtal ki ng anount.

MR. BEFERA: Yes, there are other areas where those
have been appropriate and satisfied the objective. This
I's not one of these areas.

MR LYNCH  Well, that was what | wanted to hear,

If 1t was or wasn't.

MR. BEFERA: This is not one of those areas.

MR. LYNCH Al right. Now, with regards to the
small cells that | amtal ki ng about that you have used
in the past, what's their limt of capacity, how many
sectors did they have in, within each one, and, as
conparable to what you are putting on the tower.

MR. LAREDO Basically one standard small cell
conprises of one radio head, so it's capacity is,
equates to single carrier sector.

MR. LYNCH. Could you just repeat that? | just
didn't hear it.

MR. LAREDO  Actually equates to one sector in a
single carrier.

MR. LYNCH. Ckay. Thank you very nmuch. That is
all, M. Chairnman.

M5. D ANGELO | have a foll owup question, M.

Bef era, have you done an analysis of utility poles and
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the commercial buildings or street |ights or any other
structures that small cells could be placed on in this
area?

MR. BEFERA: W did. W did do a search. W did
not do an analysis of utility poles, because that is not
the solution for this objective. But we did do an
extensi ve search. W | ooked at a nunber of sites that
are called out in our initial submttal. W |ooked at
sone Town properties to the northeast of the target
| ocati on. Those were not sufficient. They were too
chose to an existing site that we have, | believe Handen
2. W | ooked at another Town property, at 905 Shepherd
Avenue and that was a deficient |ocation based on a
couple hundred feet in a difference in elevation and the
parcel was too small. W went to, you know, at the
suggestion of the Town, to explore further their
properties. W |ooked at the golf course. Now the golf
course woul d have been acceptable, but then the Town
changed their mnd and said it wasn't avail able to us.
We | ooked at the heavily wooded parcels to the north of
our subject property, but for us to get a facility in
t here, would have been an exponential difference in
envi ronnental di sturbance to build an access road and a
conpound and a tower site in this densely wooded area to

the north of the subject parcel. So we did |ook at the
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possibilities. You can't, you know, to, when you are
surrounded by seven existing nmacro cells, the circle
that you need to be in gets smaller. Because you are
too close in one way, you are not satisfying the
objective in the other way. So you are sonewhat
limted.

M5. D ANGELO M. Befera, those are all tower
sites that you nentioned.

MR. BEFERA:  Yes.

M5. DANGELO So it didn't really seemto answer
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nmy specific question about the snall cells. |If you have

a small cell site, in particular, that you observed,
pl ease submt that into the record.

MR. BEFERA: This was not an application for a

small cell. This objective cannot be solved with a
smal | cell.
M5. D ANGELO | amsorry, | msspoke. D d you

have a study, you said you perforned an anal ysis and |
woul d assune there is a study going along with that.
CHAI RMAN STEIN: | thought he al ready answered the
question that they did not do -- however you define a
study of snall cells because they determ ned that was
not feasi bl e.
MR. COHEN. That's ny m stake, M. Chairman. |

t hought | heard himsay he did an analysis. |If I amin
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error, then | apol ogi ze.

CHAI RMAN STEIN.  Well, | guess the definition, it
depends on what you define -- but why don't you -- is
t he question as to whether they did a study, whatever a
study neans, of snmall cell sites, other than what they
have just been telling us for the last half hour?

M5. D ANGELO  Yes.

CHAI RMAN STEIN.  That's the question. But, so can
you just answer, nmaybe you can answer that yes or no, or
maybe | am not sure.

MR. BEFERA: No small cell study because a snal
cell is not the solution to our issues in this area. It
Is not the answer. It wll not satisfy the objective.
So small cells are not consideration for this objective.

M5. D ANGELO Ckay. W understand that is your
position. Refer to page 65 and 66 of your testinony
fromthe May 2nd hearing. M. Laredo indicated in his
testinony that the tower could provide capacity for the
next three or four years. Four years seens |like a very
short period of tinme given the effort undertaken for
this process and to construct the tower; isn't that
true.

MR. BALDWN. Could you repeat the |ast part of
t hat question?

MS. D ANGELO Four years seens |ike a very short




© o0 ~N oo o b~ w N

N N N N N o o e
oa A~ W N P O © 00 N oo 0o~ O w N -+ O

65

period of tinme given the effort undertaken for this
process and to construct the tower; isn't that true?

MR, BEFERA: No.

MS. D ANGELO.  Why not ?

MR. BEFERA: Because it is, that is not a short
time. Four years is four years. Now, as Jaine has
stated before, until the site is built and all
surroundi ng sites including the new addition is
optim zed, that is an educated guess as to how long it
wi ||l be sustained. And whatever new technol ogi es nmay
cone out that we can add to the existing sites in this
one in the future that m ght provide additional capacity
relief. So four, five years, given our current
frequenci es, m ght be reasonable. But m ght also be a
conservati ve guesstimate.

MR, LYNCH Could | just add one foll owup question
tothat? |Is there, is the, this time FCC, contenplating
anot her auction for a different band? 1| thought | heard
t hat sone of the bands that are being used for AMG s and

stuff were going to be utilized; is that true? O are

t hey going to have another auction? | guess that is ny
questi on.
MR. BEFERA: | do not know.

MR. LYNCH. Fair enough.
MR COHEN. Al set?
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CHAI RVAN STEIN: | think that's the answer.

MR. COHEN. Okay. Thank you. All right. My I
ask, would you like to take a break?

CHAI RVAN STEIN: | didn't say that.

MR. COHEN. No, | just asked.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:  No, | nean, at sonme point
dependi ng on where we are at about 8: 00 o'cl ock tonight
I m ght want one.

MR COHEN: It will not be ny nmention. Gentleman,
my nanme is Bert Cohen. | have a few questi ons on behal f
of Patricia Sorrentino. And ny guess is, is that since
we are not going to take care of Dr. Kl enens coverage
I ssues, we wll nove on and focus on the, few of the
proposed sites.

And M. Befera, M. Libertine, | think we are going
to have a little conversati on about those. |If that is
okay with your gentleman. Wth respect to alternate
two, can we just go through, maybe alternate one and
alternate two, the access road di nmensi ons agai n? The
| ength for each, because it wasn't clear to ne. | am
not very good, | ama lawer, | amnot very good at
readi ng these charts. And | amnot going to refer to
any exhibits, | don't have them

CHAI RMAN STEIN: Is there a question?

MR. COHEN: There was. The dinensions for the
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access roads for alternates one and two.

MR. BALDWN.  And just for the record, this is
appl i cants Exhi bit Nunber 9.

MR. KLEMENS: What do you nean by di nensions? You
mean, wi dth or |ength?

MR. COHEN: Let's do wdth and then let's do
|l ength. |If you want to do height, that is fine too. |
amnore interested in the I ength and w dt h.

MR COUCH. Alternative site two, the driveways are
12 feet in width, and it has a |l ength of 250 |i near
feet. Alternative site one, the sane 12 foot w dth.

MR. COHEN:. Now, you can understand why | coul dn't
quite figure it out either

CHAIRMAN STEIN:  In ny day we had this little thing
with a wheel and you just did it. | guess that was nore
hi gh tech then we are today.

MR COUCH It is 373 linear feet.
COHEN: | am sorry, 373.
couCcH 373 linear feet.

2 3 3

COHEN: Ckay. And just for the record, |
assune if alternate three were in the mx, it would be
the sane wi dth, but you don't have a neasurenent or an
estimate of what the -- no assessnent was made about the
| engt h.

MR, VAEI NPAHL: No.
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MR. COHEN: Now, both alternate one and alternate
two are assum ng that you are going to cone in through
t he cul -de-sac portion of Country Cub Lane; is that
correct.

MR COUCH: Yes.

MR. COHEN. So you are going to be cutting into,
there is a curve there on, fromwhat | recall, you are
going to be cutting into that curb?

MR COUCH: Yes, correct.

68

MR. COHEN: Okay. And can you state for the record

what the, how nmuch of that curb you will be renoving for
al ternates one and two?

MR COUCH They will be the 12-foot w dth of

driveway, plus the radius of entrance on either side, so

it would be approximately 22 feet.

MR. COHEN: So you are going to be taking out 22
feet of the cul-de-sac curb for that?

MR, COUCH: Correct.

MR, COHEN: | do recall in one of the exhibits
t here was sonet hi ng about a 20 foot easenent that
I ncl uded the driveway, and what was that easenent
related to? Was that for utilities to cone in, for
power to cone in?

MR, COUCH: Yes.

MR. COHEN. And power would cone in through areal,
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under gr ound?

MR. COUCH. It is underground.

MR. COHEN: Ckay. So there would be further, there
woul d be further digging that would be -- woul d be
addi ti onal digging that would be required for that or
woul d that be done in conjunction wth the construction
of the access road?

MR, COUCH: It would be continuous excavati on and
preparation with the driveway and utilities.

MR. COHEN: Okay. Explain the drainage situation,
particularly off of alternate two. | know there was
sone tal k about a stormdrain. So, you know, from what
I, what | could see, there would be sone water potenti al
wat er runoff into Country Club, into the cul -de-sac
portion of Country Cdub Lane. How would you propose to
make sure that that didn't happen?

MR, COUCH. There is stormwater that runs
currently fromthe sl opes, down towards, fromthe north
to the south. The driveways is a gravel driveway, which
Is a pervious surface, allows water to perneate into it.
It is not an inpervious surface, but a gravel driveway.
And the driveway is pitched fromthe upgraded side of
the terrain fromthe west, down slope to the east and is
shedding into property. And the discharge fromthe

property, the stormwater discharge is an increased from
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a two through 100-year storm

MR. COHEN. So you are guaranteeing to every
resident on Country Club -- Verizon is guaranteeing to
every resident on Country Club Lane, there would be no
stormwater runoff that is caused by alternate site two?

MR. COUCH: No. What the design says, is there wll
be no increase in the stormwater runoff as a result of
this construction. There is already stormwater runoff
runni ng fromthe sight.

MR. COHEN. Ckay. So you are not going to nake any
I mprovenents, then, that would benefit any of the
residents on Country Club Lane with respect to storm
wat er drai nage? |In other words, you are going to | eave
it the way it is and you are not going to do anything to
elimnate the stormwater runoff; is that your
testi nony, sir?

MR. COUCH. The, there will be no increase in storm
wat er runoff for the two through the 100-year storms.

MR COHEN. Okay. So I'll take that as no
I mprovenent. Thank you. [|'Il nove on.

CHAI RVAN STEIN: Dr. Klenens has a foll ow up.

MR. KLEMENS: Yeah, | do have a question, actually.
| am |l ooking at the plans for alternative one and two.
And M. Couch has testified that it was going to be a

22-foot curb cut renoval, and yet on your plans, on both
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our plans, it is very clear that the curb being renoved
Is just the wdth of the driveway. So can you clarify
that and be certain which is correct, the plans or your
testinony. Sonething is not lining up. See a note

t here on saw cutting existing curbing at the driveway
limts, and that's different fromwhat you testified to.

MR. VEI NPAHL: Although | don't have ny nmagnifying
glass with ne, | think if you | ook very carefully at it,
they are very small triangles off of the 20-foot w dth
of the easenent where it actually does show the radius
on the driveway on both sides, at |east on map C 2A. It
is very small, but it is there.

MR. KLEMENS:. Ckay. So.

MR. VEINPAHL: | amassumng it is the sane thing
for alternate site two. | nean, you really need the
magni fyi ng gl ass now.

MR. KLEMENS: Oh, | see what you are saying, the
arrows are not the limt. It is actually the
cross-hatched area that is the area --

MR. HANNON: The area is delineating the easenent

the width of the easenent where the roadway, but the

actual saw cut will be a little bit further because they
do show the radius there. It is difficult to see.
MR. KLEMENS: | am seeing it now, Bob, yes.

MR COUCH If you | ook at C 2A you have a hat ched
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are that includes a radius at an entrance that goes
beyond the limts of, the extended Iimts of the
20-foot, sorry, the width of the driveway. And so, the
not es says, saw cut existing curbing at limts of knew
driveway. The apron is not the straight line of the
driveway. The apron is inclusive of the radius of the
driveway.

MR. KLEMENS: W are on the sanme page now. Thank
you. | get it now.

MR. COHEN: Okay. Wy, while we are on that
subj ect --

MR COUCH | amsorry. But it is within the
limts of the easenent.

MR. COHEN. Okay. Just as a followup to Dr.
Kl emens' question. |Is there a, do you have, is there in
the record, a the percentage of the radius of the
cul -de-sac, the curb that is there in place, versus what
wll be renoved? So in other words, so that you can
state for the record what percentage of the curb of that
cul -de-sac wll be renoved as a result if the Counci
approves either one of these driveways.

MR. COUCH. | have not cal cul ated that.

MR, COHEN: Ckay. | would like to get that
calculation for the record, M. Chairnan.

CHAI RMAN STEI'N:  Just for clarification purposes
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for your question.

MR. COHEN: Yes, sir.

MR, VEEI NPAHL: Because part of the cul-de-sac is
actually straight. It is not the typical -- so what
portion are you actually |ooking at to get a cal cul ati on
on.

CHAIRMAN STEIN:. It will also help this nenber if
we knew t he point of the question.

MR. COHEN: | know.

MR, WVAEI NPAHL: I just --

MR. COHEN: Oh, the point of the question, vis a
vis the -- the point of the question is that we have
proposals here to cone off a private resident, a
residential cul-de-sac, there are alternatives, which I
haven't gotten to, M. Chairnan.

CHAI RVAN STEIN:  Private -- you nentioned private

MR COHEN:. It is not private, but it is a purely
residential cul-de-sac that is now going to be extended
anywhere from 150 to 300 feet as a result of, if the
Counci | approves this application, and there are
alternatives which we will get into. So it is very
I mportant that the Council have, in the record, you
know, the change that will be occurring to this

nei ghborhood in the event that it approves the
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application of either alternate, as to alternate one and
alternate two.

CHAl RVAN STEIN:  But, M. Cohen, if they were to
put a residential subdivision, you would have the sane,
you woul d have the sane situation.

MR. COHEN. That nmy be true, Your Honor, but that
I's not before you today. What is before you is the
tower proposal, and it is certainly the el ected
officials of the Town would have to deal w th approving
a residential subdivision. Fromwhat we understand, we
are dealing with the future involving the | andowner
wanting to grow hops on his property. So | didn't think
that is really in contention here.

| claimit, Your Honor. | think it is a fair
questi on.

CHAI RVAN STEIN: Ckay. The question is fair, |
just ask a question of --

MR COHEN. Oh, | amsorry.

CHAI RMAN STEI' N You have answered the why and
we'll take it for what it's worth. So pl ease, continue.

MR. VEEI NPAHL: W are checki ng the nunbers here.

It is going to be a m nimum of 12 feet for the access
road, but as it curves onto the cul-de-sac, it wll
probably be another foot, foot and a half on each side.

Approxi mately 15 feet would be the cut, not much nore
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than that. It will be mnimzed. It is a pretty nuch a
straight path comng in.

MR. COHEN: Okay. So what is the difference
bet ween the 22 feet and the 15 feet? MNow I am confused.

MR, VEEI NPAHL: Let's scrap the 22 feet out right
NOW.

MR. COHEN. Okay.

MR. VEI NPAHL: So we don't need a 22-foot |long curb
cut for either one of these access roads.

MR. COHEN: Okay. WIIl the access, will either
access roads for alternate one or two require any other
street excavation other than the curb.

MR. VEINPAHL: At this tinme, no. The utility pole
Is set off the curb. Uilities are plan to cone in off
t hat pol e underground and pick up the easenent all the
way into the tower.

MR, COHEN: Thank you, M. Couch -- | amsorry --
M. Weinpahl. | apol ogize.

MR. COUCH The only variable to that would be if
there were the requirenent to bring in natural gas.

MR, COHEN:. Ckay.

MR, COUCH. [|f avail able.

MR. COHEN: Now, Kirk Road, | want to talk a little
bit about that, and whoever wants to junp in can answer

the question. At the end of Kirk road, and I am not




© o0 ~N oo o b~ w N

N N N N N o o e
oa A~ W N P O © 00 N oo 0o~ O w N -+ O

76

sure exactly where it ends, where the pavenent

ends, there is an unpaved road, isn't that correct? O
an unpaved access area, whether you call it a road,

dri veway, curb.

MR, COUCH. Ckay.

MR. COHEN: Does anybody, have any of you | ooked at
that? M. Libertine, you are shaking your head.

MR LI BERTI NE: Yes.

MR. COHEN: Okay. And where does that, where does
t hat access road, where does it end up? Does anybody
know? 1Isn't there a house at the end of that?

MR. LIBERTINE: Are you tal king about the property
owner's house or are you tal king about the extension
Kirk Road that turns into dirt before it turns into a
dri veway.

MR, COHEN: Well, there is an extension and then
you can go right up to the top of the hill and there is
a house up there. 1Is that the property owner's house?

MR. BALDWN: It mght be hel pful, could you refer
to attachnent six, Attorney Cohen? |In our second set of
responses to the Siting Council, just so there is a map
reference. Just to put some context in to your
question, | think that m ght hel pful for everybody.

MR, LIBERTINE: It would, because | was if you were

just going directly north, as opposed to turning west
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toward the property owner's house.

MR. BALDWN.  So | ooking at that exhibit.

MR. COHEN: Let nme nmake sure we are on the sane
page. Thank you, Attorney Baldwin. Gay. M.

Li bertine, can | ask you?

MR, LIBERTINE: Sure. Sure. | just wanted to nake
sure we were tal king about apples to apples.

MR COHEN: So let's |look at that. W have Kirk
Road desi gnat ed.

MR. LI BERTI NE: Ri ght .

MR. COHEN: Okay. And now, at sone point, we hit
Funaro Road and then it appears that Kirk Road is, the
pavenent, it is hard to tell fromthis designation, but
It appears the pavenent stops at that point.

VR. LI BERTI NE: More or | ess, yes. More or less it
ends and then picks up again once you get to the
driveway it kind of veers off just to the west or the
| eft of the property, just onto the property itself at
208. That is kind of a broken pavenent. It is pretty
beat up, but it is a driveway.

MR. COHEN: Okay. And that, when you follow that,
now !l see a line, | don't know if that is the property
line or if that's the access road that goes up beyond
Kirk Road. Let's just call it Kirk Road extension, just

-- although it may not be called that, because | just
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don't know what it is call ed.

MR LIBERTINE: Sure. It is a paper street of sone sort
on top -- you are tal king about that very narrow strip
that has -- yes, the property is shown on the west side

of that as a, kind of, a white dashed line. The rest of
those lines are just, they are the parcel lines fromthe
assessor's information. So | just wanted to nmake sure
we are tal king about the extension that goes to the
north or if we are tal king about com ng off that to the
west od the property owner's house. | was just trying
to make -- | just didn't know which one we were talking
about, that is all.

MR COHEN:. Well, | can't tell on this map where
the property owner's house is. Could you just state for
t he record where --

VMR. LI BERTI NE: Sure. H s house is actually, if
you nade a triangle between alternate site three and
alternate site two and headed to the south, that is his
house, nore or less in the center of the graphic itself.
And that is accessed, you are correct, comng off Kirk
Road. You cone off of the, past that intersection with
Funaro Road. It does break up, turn to a little bit of
just gravel, and then his access, or his driveway, then
just veers slightly, it is still going north, but it

actually pops on to his property. So it is to the west
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of that white and black dotted line. You can see it on
the areal. It is kind of hard to nmake out but it
essentially follows and parallels what would be the Kirk
Road Ext ension, and then veers off to the west,
basically alnmost in line with his house, and then rises
up to his hone.

MR. COHEN. Ckay. Thank you. And, appreciate
that. That was very good. Wen | visited this site, a
few weeks ago, | stopped ny car at the pavenent and |
just kind of walked a little bit, and | saw sone
comrercial trucks that were parked in that Kirk Road
Extension. | assune that's the property owner's
woodcutti ng busi ness, does anyone --

MR. LIBERTINE: He does have a woodcutti ng busi ness
at the base of his driveway on his property. | have
been up there, there have been chi ppers and small trucks
for hauling cord wood. So, yes.

MR. COHEN. Okay. So other than for his own
personal driveway use, it's, he does use that for the,
for his driveway, as well, does he not, M. Libertine,
or does he have another area for his driveway? It is
hard to tell fromthis exhibit.

CHAI RVMAN STEIN:  Yes, | just want to clarify. That
entire length is his driveway proper. The woodcutti ng

operation that | have seen was, what I'Il call, on the
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| ower end of that driveway, before it starts to turn and
becone a fairly steep assent up to his residence. |
can't speak to whether there are other comerci al
vehicles. | have been there half a dozen tines over the
| ast two years and | had seen, as | say, one or two

pi ck-up trucks and sone equi pnment that is used for his
cord wood operation. But, yes, it is his driveway.

That is his main and only driveway into his property.

MR. COHEN: Ckay. Thank you. | think you can
under st and why sone of the residents are, would prefer
to have Kirk Road as, which is used in part, or the Kirk
Road Extension, as, used in part for conmerci al
pur poses. So I'll ask you, have you done an anal ysis of
an access road fromthe Kirk Road Extension to alternate
one or alternate two. Let's use alternate two, that is
t he cl oser one, what that driveway would | ook |ike, or
access road.

MR. BALDWN M. Chairnman, just while the w tness
IS preparing to answer the question, | would point out
that in our response to Ms. Sorrentino's questions, set
two, we did respond to a question related to the use of
Kirk Road, and | think what is referred to as feasible.
But beyond that, are you prepared?

MR, VEEI NPAHL: W had wal ked in that direction and

we wal ked up his driveway, we wal ked around all the
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area. That path comng in off Kirk Road, about a 25
percent grade for a good portion of it. And it is the,
it's very much longer path to get to either of the two
alternates. Based on that, we have just kept our
original plan or proposal off of Country C ub drive,

| ess gradi ng, shorter path.

MR. COHEN. Okay. Well, | appreciate that. |
nmean, that i1s obviously nuch preferable fromthe
conpany's perspective, but not necessarily fromthe
resident's perspective. Wuld there have been any
obj ection to producing an anal ysis of the access road
coming in for alternate site two fromthe Kirk Road
Ext ensi on.

MR. BALDWN. M. Chairman, | think we responded to
t hat question in response to question two of Ms.
Sorrentino's second set of interrogatories, and | think
we stand by that that response.

MR COHEN. May | have a nonent, please, M.
Chairman. GCkay. | can, | can play wth the
I nterrogatory response and cross-exam ne them on every
word in there, but the fact is that it is a general
description, a longer result and sonet hi ng about tree
renoval. But, and it is nore costly. You know what, we
don't care that it is nore costly, we just |like to know

what the length is and is it feasible and get it into
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t he record.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:. Ckay. Well, you got their
response. You may not like it. [It's in the record.

MR. COHEN: | understand -- well, I'lIl ask themthe
questi ons, okay.

CHAI RVAN STEI N: Ckay.

MR. COHEN: I n your response to 3B, or 3B of Ms.
Sorrentino's interrogatories, you said it would result
in nore ground di sturbance. Do you have any anal ysis
you can put into the record about that ground
di st ur bance.

MR. VEINPAHL: W are just |looking to | ocate 3B.
Hol d on one second.

MR, LIBERTINE: Could | just clarify for the
record, the, the term analysis, it is clear that an
engi neering drawi ng set was not prepared for alternate
site three. So an analysis, per se, has not been
perforned. However, when we wal ked the site and | ooked
at all of this, it was clear wthout doing a full
anal ysis that just based on the topography and the
| ength al one that there would be an increase in the
amount of disturbance with trying to access either site
one or site two fromthe Kirk Road side. So I think
that is nore or |l ess our position. But to answer your

basi ¢ question, an anal ysis, no, has not been perforned.
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| amnot sure it is really necessary when you | ook at
kind of the lay of the |land here, and when we are
conparing the access roads.

MR. COHEN: Ckay. |1'll nove on, Your Honor. Can
we take a five-m nute break, Your Honor?

CHAI RMAN STEIN.  Well, how much | onger do you, do
you intend to --

MR. COHEN: It depends on the w tnesses, Your
Honor. Probably 30 m nutes.

CHAl RVAN STEIN: We'll take a five mnute break and
we'll hold you to the 30 m nutes.

MR. COHEN. Fine. Thank you.

(Wher eupon a short recess was taken.)

CHAI RVAN STEI N: Ckay.

MR. COHEN: Okay. GCentleman we are back on the
record. Let's talk a little bit about alternate site
three and hops. Who is the primary contact anongst the
panel with the property owners? All right. Wo talKks
to M. And Ms. Vignola.

MR, LIBERTINE: | think the reason we are al
| ooki ng at each other is, that's really been the
acquisition person that has really been the prinmary

contact person and she is not part of the w tness panel
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here. So we have had all discussions on the site with
the property owner and his wfe on several occasions,
but I don't know if any of us could represent that we
are the primary contact. So that's the only reason
for --

MR COHEN. That's fair. That is fine. | just
wanted to know whom | woul d be speaki ng.

MR. MURPHY: They are all followers.
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MR COHEN: | amgoing to tal k about alternate site

three. Okay. So, this cultivation of hops that is
di scussed, | have to ask this question, as you

know, hops take three to six years, fromwhat |

understand, to basically develop a crop. D d any of you

personally talk with himabout his desire to suddenly

use this property for the cultivation of hops.

MR. BALDWN. M. Chairnman objection to the prem se

and the tone of the question. W answered that in our
response to the interrogatories. That is what our, ny
client was told.

CHAI RMAN STEIN: (Qbjection is sustained. | think
we have been told that alternate three is off the table.
And since we don't have the owner to testify, | am not
sure, | nean, it is owmed -- well, let nme just ask who
owns the property.

MR. LIBERTINE: The entire property is owned by --
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| don't know Joe's | ast nane --

MR COHEN. M. And Ms. Vignola. | believe it is
owned jointly, at |east according to the |ease.

CHAI RVAN STEIN:  And we do have testinony that they
reject alternative three as the possible site for
what ever reason; is that correct?

MR. LIBERTINE: That is ny understandi ng, yes.

CHAl RVAN STEI N: Thank you.

MR, COHEN:. Just to clarify, M. Chairnman, you are
precludi ng me from aski ng questi ons about alternate,
about their response to an interrogatory about alternate
t hr ee.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:. | am objecting to having a
pr ol onged di scussi ons about hops.

MR. COHEN: Okay. That's fine. My | ask --

CHAI RVAN STEIN: I f you ask, ask specific questions
and if you can get, if they have answers to, | guess
that's fine. But | don't want to have a |long --

MR. COHEN: Was there additional consideration
offered to M. Vignola for alternates one and two for
your permi ssion to use the, offer those sites?

MR. BALDW N. You nean additional noney?

MR. COHEN: Additional consideration, sure. That
IS what --

MR LIBERTINE: | amnot aware of that. Qur
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di scussions were basically it would be the sane size
conpound, so it would be a simlar | ease agreenent.

MR, COHEN: Ckay. Now, when the issue of alternate
three cane up, and | assune since it is directly, you
know, it would be M. And Ms. Vignola, and he indicated
he had sone ot her commercial uses for this particul ar
site or potential commercial uses, did you say, well, if
the Siting Council wants us to have alternate three,
woul d you be willing to, if we sweeten the pot a little
bit, would you be willing to allow us to propose
alternate three? D d that conversation ever occur.

MR, LIBERTINE: No. Not in this context. W
di scussed alternate three, we pitched the site as giving
it pro's and con's. M. And Ms. Vignola both were
vehenent in their distaste in even considering it
because they had al ready spoken to their son, who |
understand had just recently graduated from an
agricultural school, and this is where they wanted to
start the business with the rise of all the
m crobreweries. So they that felt as though this was a
great opportunity to keep it in the famly. So they
took it off the table. And that is why we showed it as
such. W wanted to show that we at | east took a | ook at
It because it was anot her high point on the property.

But fromny perspective, and I don't want to speak for
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the entire panel, or certainly for anyone else, but it
was pretty clear to ne that they were not going to
consider that as a feasible alternative.

MR. COHEN: Maybe two or three nore questions on
this, M. Chairman. Alternate, is it true that
alternate three is the closest to the Vignola famly
resi dence?

MR LIBERTINE: |If we add to split hairs, | would
say it probably is, but it is alnpst a wash between two
and t hree.

MR. COHEN: Okay. So just want to nmake sure, and
clarify, I want to go back, and | apol ogi ze, M.

Li bertine, because | don't nean to pick on you.

MR. LIBERTINE: That's okay.

MR. COHEN: But, so it is pretty clear that -- let
me back up. You, personally, did not have this
conversation with the Vignola's, this was reported to

you or did you participate in the, it is absolutely off
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t he table.
MR, LIBERTINE: | was participant, a participant in
t hat conversation, yes. It happened on May 5th when we

went back to ook at all these sites. W al so tal ked
about other |l ocations that aren't on here. W tal ked
about that southeast corner that is kind of in the

vall ey. That was another area where we all felt as
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t hought that didn't really nake a | ot of sense. So we,
kind of, |looked at it holistically trying to, again,
bal ance the concerns that we heard at the first hearing,
with, kind of, the lay of the land and the fact that if
we start noving substantially, we start, we nmay sol ve
Ms. Sorrentino's concern, but we may raise a whol e
ot her area of concern for other neighbors. So we were
really trying to balance. So when we look at it as a
whol e. But, yes, to answer your question, yes, that
| ocati on we spent at | east 35, 40 m nutes
evaluating, and trying to talk through it and it was
clear that that was just sonething that was not going to
take any hold. And so, that is why we focused on one
and two.

MR, COHEN: Ckay. And is it your testinony that
your are convinced that no anmount of consideration,
i ncrease in consideration in the | ease anount woul d
change M. Vignola's m nd?

MR. LI BERTI NE: | can't say that. | can't --
everyone has a price, as they say.

MR. COHEN: Yes, they do. Yes. Yes, they do. But
| don't know what that price is.

MR. LI BERTI NE: Nor | do.

MR. COHEN. Forgive ne for one second. All right.

Let ne go back to alternate two. Just, when you say
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that the, and again, | am having trouble getting off of
the Kirk Road access issue. How nuch nore costly would
it be for Verizon? Again, you know, just roughly. 1Is
it, can you give ne a percentage? 1Is this, |I don't have
any problemif it is alate file, if you want to put
sonet hi ng in.

MR. WVEI NPAHL: Quickly, we are | ooking at about
1,000 foot road now com ng off Kirk Road to get to
alternate two. It's got a steep entrance com ng up the
hill, then it goes through sone valleys, it just didn't
make a whole | ot of sense. An analysis didn't really
warrant itself. The alternate two off of Country C ub
Drive is 250 feet. So | guess take the access road cost
and nultiply it by four and change, because there is
also stormwater inpacts fromthe access road coning off
Kirk Road due to the terrain and sl ope.

MR. COHEN: So, go back through, again, | am going
to focus on alternate two, because, | nmean, you wll
find out when ny client takes a stand that alternate one
I's not nmuch different fromone, for her. But in terns
of, in terns of comng off of the cul-de-sac, so, where
is this, we talked a little bit about a fence, where is
this fence going to go? And what exactly is this fence

going to look Iike? W talked about a wooden fence or
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MR, VEEI NPAHL: | think Council staff asked us to
repl ace a chain gate with a wood fence or wood gate. W
had changed out the conpound and the equi pnent to vinyl
fence instead, to elimnate nmai ntenance on it long term
I think we had a tongue and groove vinyl fence proposed,
8 feet high. W |owered the equipnent feet behind the
fence. W could match a gate at the road, at the
cul -de-sac. W could recess it in 10, 15 feet. W may
want to change the color to it. You don't want to
really see it, but you want it to provide a barrier for
trespassing and going in that way. So --

MR, COHEN: So howis the road -- so howis the
access -- so you have the fence, and how is the access
road, is that, is that fenced in, as well?

MR, LIBERTINE: No. Typically, no.

MR. COHEN: So what is the gate to, exactly?

MR, VEINPAHL: It will be just a swing gate.
12-foot wde swng gate, to swng in. W can put it
right at the road. W cold recess it in, there is pro's
and con's to the approaches.

MR, LIBERTINE: It is designed just to keep
vehi cl es, unaut hori zed vehicl es out.

MR. COHEN: Ckay. Okay. The only thing is, are
you, | assune you are willing to stipulate this, but

your attorney would object to that, so I'll ask the
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question. When you were up there visiting the site, any
of you, can you describe the, the | evel of conmerci al
vehicle traffic that you saw on Country Club Drive in
that cul -de-sac area? Did you see any commerci al
traffic, other than yourself, obviously?

MR, VEEI NPAHL: | made have noticed a FedEx truck
cone and go, but it is a residential area, so --

MR. COHEN. Okay. Thank you. | think we are --

MR. LYNCH: Just one quick foll owup question. M.
Li bertine, you nentioned, you know, access you, to
prevent access from unwanted vehicles. |Is there any
usage in that area right now of ATV's or dirt bi kes or

anything like that, that you know of ?

MR LIBERTINE: | amnot famliar enough with the
area. | imagine, there is a fair anount of open woods
there, so | would inmagine there is sone. In this area
itself, | just wouldn't be able to speak to that. | am

just not famliar enough wth it.

Il will say, just to add to the access, we have
tal ked a | ot about this curb cut that would be required
off Country Club Drive. | guess | just want to go on
the record that whatever is being proposed, if we were
to conme in from Country Club Drive, would not be
dramatically different than the existing curb cuts that

are there today for those driveways. Only difference is
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t hey woul d not be pavenent, it would just be gravel
access.

MR, LYNCH. Ckay.

MR, COHEN: All set. | think we have no further
questi ons. Thank you for your patience.

CHAI RMAN STEI'N: You have your client.

MR COHEN. We do. Do you mnd if we sit with her,
M. Chairman, just so she doesn't --

CHAI RVAN STEIN:  Okay. | guess you have a w tness,

so would you please rise to be sworn in?

(Ms. Sorrentino was sworn in by Chairnman Stein.)

CHAI RMAN STEIN:  Attorney Cohen, would you pl ease
verify the exhibits you filed?

MR COHEN: | shall. | got to read off the list of
exhibits. The application of Patricia Sorrentino to be
desi gnated a party, March 13th, 2017. Council approval
of Patricia Sorrentino's request to be designated a
party, March 17th, 2017. The objection of Patricia
Sorrentino to the applicant's notion for protective
Order, March 24th, corrected pages four and five March
27th, 2017. Prefile testinony of you, Patricia
Sorrentino on April 25th, 2017. And the suppl enrent al

prefile testinony of you, Patricia Sorrentino, June 6th,
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2017. D d you prepare or assist in preparing these
exhibits that | just |isted.

MS. SORRENTI NO.  Yes.

MR, COHEN. Ckay. And do you adopt those exhibits
as your sworn testinony in this proceedi ng today?

MS. SORRENTI NGO Yes, | do.

MR. COHEN. Are there any corrections,
nodi fications, that you wwsh to bring to the attention
of the Siting Council today?

MS. SORRENTI NGO No.

MR. COHEN: Presented. Ms. Sorrentino.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:  Does any party have any objection
to any of the exhibits.

MR. BALDWN M. Chairman | object to the
i nclusi on of sonme of the attachnents to Ms.
Sorrentino's supplenmental testinony, which includes the
2010, April 27th, 2010 Change Wave Research Paper and
the other report fromthe Root Matri x that was i ncl uded
as an attachnment to that testinony. | don't think these
are exhibits that Ms. Sorrentino can attest to, nor can
she respond to cross-examni nation regardi ng those
exhi bi ts.

What | m ght suggest is if Ms. Sorrentino were to
ask the Council to take adm nistrative notice of those

itens, | would not object to that.
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CHAI RVAN STEI N: Go ahead.

MR. COHEN. Form over substance. W are happy to
respectfully request that the Council take
adm ni strative notice of the attachnents to Ms.
Sorrentino's, the exhibits to Ms. Sorrentino's prefile
testinony, as referenced by Attorney Bal dw n.

CHAI RMAN STEIN. Ckay. Wth that the exhibits are
adm tt ed.

MR COHEN: | will specify those for the record,
Your Honor. They are Mobile Network Performance in the
US., which is readily available on the internet.
Dat ed, which was pulled off of the internet 6/2/2017;
along with the Change Wave Research Wrel ess Service
Providers Trends, that, although it is just not a URL
there, | believe it was pulled off of the internet April
27th, 2010. Attached to the prefile, suppl enental
pretrial testinony of June 6th.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:.  Ckay. So exhibits are admtted.
And we wll now start -- welcone -- and
Cross-exam nati on.

MR. COHEN:. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN STEIN: First from M. Mercier.

MR. MERCIER: Thank you. Ms. Sorrentino |
understand fromyour prefile testinony that you are

opposed to all three |ocations; the proposed site, the
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alternate site, one, that is, and alternate two. @G ven
t hat understanding, is there any one of the three that
you find nore preferable than the others?

M5. SORRENTI NO.  Yes.

MR. MERCIER: And what is that.

MS. SORRENTINO Alternate site two is better.

MR. MERCIER  Now, there was previously sone
di scussi on between ne and M. Libertine regarding a tree
tower design. | don't know if you have seen these
around state at all.

MS. SORRENTI NGO  Yes, | have.

MR. MERCIER Do you think that is an application,
that m ght be sonething that you woul d not m nd havi ng
next to your property?

MS. SORRENTINO Alternate site two, yes.

MR. MERCIER: Wbuld you, do you like a tree tower
design, | guess?

MS. SORRENTI NO.  Yes.

MR MERCIER And if the tower was built here, you
woul d prefer to see a tree tower versus a nonopol e.

MS. SORRENTI NO.  Yes.

MR. MERCIER Ckay. And there was sone di scussion
in regard to sone types of fencing around the conpound.
Woul d you prefer nore of a vinyl decorative fence over a

chain link or sone other type of fencing that wasn't
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present ed but maybe you m ght want to present?

MS. SORRENTINO. The vinyl is nice. Alternate site
two, the wood woul d be fine.

MR. MERCIER Ckay. And there was sone di scussion
on an access gates, just to block vehicles fromdriving
down the driveway into the Vignola property to get to
the site. Oiginally they proposed a chain-link gate
attached by two bars, connected two bars wth the chain.

MS. SORRENTI NO.  Yes.

MR. MERCIER  Sonme sites | have seen a cow fence,
basically a metal bar fence. And also sonetines a wood
fence, is there a type --

MS. SORRENTI NO  The wood fence woul d be better.

MR. MERCIER Bl ock the road. Gkay. Thank you.
And on May 5th there was a balloon fly for the two
alternate sites. And that one did a visibility
analysis. | don't know if you were hone that day.

MS. SORRENTI NO. | was.

MR. MERCIER D d you have chance to try to go out

M5. SORRENTINO | did. | saw them

MR. MERCIER: Ckay. Do you know what col ors you
saw from your property? D d you see a red balloon?

MS. SORRENTI NO. G een.

MR. MERCIER  You saw a green ball oon.
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Did you know the green balloon is site two,
alternate site two.

M5. SORRENTINO It was also on alternate site one.

MR. MERCIER: Ckay. So you only saw a green
bal | oon.

MS. SORRENTINO On both sites.

MR. MERCI ER  Ckay.

MS. SORRENTINO. The day it flew themfor the
alternate sites.

MR. MERCIER  That's right.

MS. SORRENTI NGO  Not the --

MR MERCIER | believe in the pictures --

MS. SORRENTI NO. Because | have seen red, gray and
gr een.

MR MERCIER. | believe in the pictures there was a
red balloon they flew and a green ball oon.

M5. SORRENTINO | did not see a red ball oon that
day. | saw two green ball oons.

MR. MERCI ER  Ckay.

MS. SCORRENTINO. | have pictures.

MR. MERCIER: You have pictures?

MS. SORRENTINO Yes, | took themw th ny
cel | phone.

MR. MERCIER  Ckay. And you didn't want to submt

themw th the prefile testi nony?
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MS. SORRENTINO. Well they were, they were after
that. These were the pictures | took at the alternate
site balloons. So they were after that neeting.

MR MERCIER  Okay.

MR. COHEN. Excuse ne. May |? | did not, | was
not aware of that. W can certainly submt that in to
the record if it's material. |If that woul d be hel pful.

MS. SORRENTINO | didn't think it mattered. |
t ook the pictures.

MR MERCIER: | just wanted to know, you know, how
nmuch of the balloon you saw, was it above the trees, was
it through the trees, you know, was it --

MS. SORRENTINO Alternate site two, | could see a
little bit of it when | was up the driveway in the
street. | did not see it fromny hone, which was --

MR. MERCIER: But you believe alternate site one
you saw t he bal | oon.

M5. SORRENTINO OCh, | know !l sawit. Alternate
site one is very close to the original site.

MR. MERCIER Ckay. | don't have any ot her
questi ons. Thank you.

CHAI RVAN STEI N:  Thank you. Senat or Murphy?

MR, MJURPHY: Just kind of followup. You indicated
at alternate site two you would prefer a nonopine, which

Is a pine?
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MS. SORRENTI NO.  Yes.

MR MJURPHY: And it is ny recollection that M.

Li bertine testified that it m ght appear to be out of
pl ace there. And fromny being there, | am kind of
inclined to agree with him And | am just asking

whet her you want to rethink that. Not criticizing you
or anything, but --

MS. SORRENTINO No, | saw the balloon fromthe end
of the road and when | got close to the cul -de-sac, |
wasn't able to see the top of it. But fromthe end of
Country Cub Drive, you know, turning in from Bear Path,
you were able to see the balloon. And | think that the
pine tree | ook would | ook |i ke wood, opposed to the gray
nmetal | ook, which gives that industrial feel. That
woul dn't be as nice in the nei ghborhood. But it woul d,
| don't know, it was stand out a little bit above the
trees in the fall and winter, it would blend in.

MR. MURPHY: Do you realize that the nonopi ne
real ly extends seven feet higher?

MS. SORRENTI NO. Seven feet higher?

MR. MJURPHY: Yes. The canouflage takes it seven
f eet hi gher up.

MS. SORRENTINO Really?

MR, MJRPHY: | don't know. W have this debate

sone people have different ideas. But you feel the
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nonopi ne woul d be better if the Council decided on --

MS. SORRENTI NO.  Yes.

MR. MJURPHY: Ckay. | have nothing further, M.
Chai r man.

CHAI RVAN STEIN: Dr. Kl enens.

MR. KLEMENS: | would like to foll owup on what
Senat or Mur phy was aski ng, because | am al so concer ned
that the nonopine in that |ocation m ght be very
noti ceable. And | understand, | believe was you were
| ooki ng for sonething that blends nore, |ooks nore
organi ¢ as opposed to gray steel. There is also, are
you aware there are also treatnments where you can have a
brown or rusted | ook or other types of treatnents on the
pol e that m ght achieve that? | amjust, | think people
here are interested in trying to assist you in reaching
where you want to go, but | amjust, | am concerned
al ong with Senat or Mirphy, that when the nonopine is up
you nay say, oh, no, this is shocking. So if it's the
color, is it the color of the gray steel or is it the --

MS. SORRENTINO  Yes. That has an industrial feel
to ne. | would like it, if, | mean, if it blends in, if
the trees are, you know, dark gray. |If it was dark
gray, that would be better than if it was nore |like a
silver light color.

MR. KLEMENS: Sonet hi ng darker, sonething brown,
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THE WTNESS: It is either going to blend in wth
t he sky, | guess, or the trees. | amnot sure what
woul d be best.

MR. KLEMENS: Right. Because ny concern is the

nonopine is, it nakes a rather |l arge footprint.
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M5. SORRENTINO | did, | just saw one this weekend

but it was on the Merit Parkway. So, it, it |ooks good

in the mddle of the Merit Parkway, you know, | can't
say -- | see your point.
MR. KLEMENS: So col orization actually m ght

achi eve the objective wthout the nass of a nopnopi ne.

That is why | am just asking for sone guidance from you

on that, if you can.

MS. SORRENTINO Yes. Ckay. | see your point.
didn't realize that it would be seven feet nore.

MR. KLEMENS: And wider too. |t becones quite a
st at enent .

MS. SORRENTI NO | didn't realize that. So |

think, if you thought about a color that would be better

t hat woul d be, you know, a little nore organic to the
nei ghbor hood.

MR. KLEMENS: Al right. Thank you. | have no
further questions -- thank you very nuch. | have no

further questions M. Chairnan.




© o0 ~N oo o b~ w N

N N N N N o o e
oa A~ W N P O © 00 N oo 0o~ O w N -+ O

102

CHAI RVAN STEI N: Panel ?

MR. HANNON: Thank you, M. Chairman. |'Il|l go back
in history. A long tine ago in the Town of Manchester
they had a big water tower that they were proposing to
put in. And they asked a nunber of people the col or
t hey t hought, because the water tower was high up and it
was going to be part of a visible profile they went with
nore |ike a sky blue color to kind of blend in with the
sky, but the problemis, that doesn't work if you have
got nasty rain clouds out there. But | think what you
are tal king about is if there is sonething that can done
so it doesn't | ook so stark.

MS. SORRENTI NO.  Yes.

MR. HANNON: That nmay be sonething that --

MS. SORRENTINO Yes, if there was sone thought put
into it, it would be appreciated.

MR. HANNON: And in going through your testinony, |
do have one question for you. The information that was
submtted on the 25th, is the prefile testinony. On
page two, this is the, | guess, the third full
par agr aph, the big paragraph in the mddle. You talk
about the destruction of approximately 30 trees al one
will destroy the ecol ogy and the scenic beauty of the
area where you live. One of the thing that | was

| ooking at wwth the plans that were submtted, and it
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was pretty obvious, fromny perspective, that the Town
made a deli berate nove so that when Country C ub went
in, that the right-of-way was extended up, right up to
Vignola's property with the understanding that at some
point in time that road could be expanded. So | am just
ki nd of curious what your feeling would be that, if you
think that taking 30 trees down for a cell tower site,
what woul d happen if the Vignola's, |ike a nunber of
other farm ng properties in the State of Connecti cut,
are having problens just trying to keep the farm goi ng
and it gets sold for residential devel opment, what is
that going to do to the area?

MS. SORRENTINO Well, when we built our house
there and picked out the lot and designed it, | did, you
know, think that in the future there woul d probably be
hones there. |, of course, never thought of a cell
tower. He says that he's, his famly wants to keep it
as a farmand his children, so | don't think that w |
happen in the near future.

MR. HANNON: No, | understand what you are sayi ng.
But in work | deal with a lot of dairy farners, there is
| ot of dairy farms that have gone out of business and it
was not their intention to go out of business. But
again, fromtal king about the intensity of the use of

the property, | think growing the trees, growi ng the
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hops, if you will, however long it takes, and with the
cell tower, to ne that type of intensity would be a | ot
| ess than a residential developnent. | am not sure how
many | ots they could get in there, because | don't
renenber there being a whole | ot of wetlands on the
property, so a lot of it may be devel opable. |Is there

wat er and sewer in the area?

MS. SORRENTI NO.  Yes.

MR, HANNON: Ckay.

M5. SORRENTINO No gas.

MR. HANNON: Which typically would -- pardon?
M5. SORRENTI NO  No gas.

MR. HANNON: Ckay. But that, typically if you have
wat er and sewer, that would all ow a devel oper to cone in
wth a smaller lot. So just |ooking at the overall
intensity to devel op

MS. SORRENTINO Well, that would be nore normal to
any nei ghbor hood, would be nore houses. | would
actually rather see nore hones, especially new hones.

It would keep ny property val ue up.

MR, HANNON: And | amjust looking at it fromthe
perspective of if 30 trees is going to be a significant
I npact, what would a residential devel opnent do, plus
the intensity which we have already tal k about, a nunber

of traffic trips per day. So, | have nothing el se.
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CHAI RVAN STEI N: M. Lynch.

MR LYNCH | just want to add that our |ate
Counci | menber M. Ashton tal ked years about the
different colors for the towers. M. Libertine was here
nost of that time, you probably worked with him | did
have a few questions but Attorney Cohen and his
Cross-exam nati on answered nost of them But | have a
curiosity question. And that, in your interrogatory,
April 24th, first three questions all kind of hint to
the fact that there may be sonebody el se involved in all
of this going's on, rather than just Verizon. You're
kind of hinting that maybe the Coke Brothers are con ng
in trying to do a hostile takeover or sonething. So I
was just wondering, do you know sonet hing that we don't
know?

M5. SORRENTINO On the original blueprint, there
were four rectangl e shapes. One was Verizon's
generator, and when we spoke about it with Attorney
Cohen, we figured out that they were probably spaces for

ot her generators so the other conpani es woul d be

att achi ng.

MR, LYNCH Ckay. | don't, just curious. | think
M. Baldwi n was nice enough to object but still answer
your questions, so -- thank you very nuch.

MS. SORRENTI NO You' re wel cone.
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CHAI RMAN STEIN: | guess, | can understand concern
over, because we have heard it nultiple hearings about
cell tower. | can also understand that everybody who
lives on a cul-de-sac wants it to be a cul -de-sac
forever. But | just, because the followup with M.
Hannon, if you have water and sewer and you have zoni ng,
I nmean, | don't know what the nmarket is like in
Handen, but that is also prine developable land. And if
we could, and I know we can't, separate this 12-f oot
gravel drive with whatever the cut in the cul -de-sac and
the fact that you are going to have maybe one trip every
quarter, which is probably nore than your famly,
probably your famly, probably in an hour. | nean, from
the actual the road access part of it, that is where |
am considering the other alternative w thout the
detail ed study and anal ysis that you, your attorney
asked for, is four tines longer. | nean, that part of
it I amhaving, | amhaving trouble wth.

MS. SORRENTINO |Is this question pertaining to
alternate site nunber two?

CHAI RMAN STEIN: No. M question really was about
the alternate access. And that why --

MS. SORRENTINO Oh, well --

CHAI RMAN STEIN: | nean, | understand you like it

to stay the way it is forever. But --
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MS. SORRENTINOG. Well, he has a business. The wood
busi ness, wth trucks with these |long | ogs going up his
dri veway a couple, twice a week, | was told. And he

runs so many busi nesses there between the tree farm

t hat, now the hops, and what else -- there is sonething
el se that he does, well the tower. | amkind of, |
just, | don't think it will ever be devel oped into
hones.

CHAI RVAN STEI N: Ckay. Wwell --

MS. SORRENTINO So that, we would |like to keep
t hat road, you know, his road, because he is already
using it for commercial purposes.

CHAI RVAN STEI N: Ckay.

MS. SORRENTINO: But if that is not possible --

CHAI RVAN STEIN:  No, | fully understand.

M5. SORRENTINO If the fence could go in the
cul -de-sac further, like you nentioned, you know, we
woul d prefer that too. W are just trying to figure the
| east i nvasive way.

CHAI RMAN STEIN:  No, we certainly, at least | think
| can speak for the Council --

MS. SORRENTI NGO  The neighbors talk to ne every
day, but, you know, they are not here today to back any
of this up.

CHAI RMAN STEIN: They shoul d be, because --
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MS. SORRENTINO. | know they should be, but they
all work. They can't take the tine off. They, you
know - -

CHAI RVAN STEIN:  They should at | east be told that
you are a good witness. Thank you.

MS. SORRENTI NO. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN STEIN: Attorney Baldw n, do you have any?

MR. BALDWN. No, M. Chairman. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN STEIN: So before closing this
hearing, Siting Council announces that briefs and
proposed findings of fact nany be filed with the Counci
by any party no later than July 13th of this year, 2017.
Subm ssion of briefs or proposed findings of fact are
not required by this Council, rather, we leave it to the
choice of the parties.

Anyone who has not becone a party but who w shes
to make his or her views known to the Council, may file
witten statenents with the Council wthin 30 days of
today's date. The Council wll issue draft findings of
fact, and thereafter parties and i nterveners may
identify errors or inconsistencies between the Council's
Fi ndi ngs of Fact and the record; however no new
i nformati on, no new evidence no argunent and no reply
briefs without our permssion wll be considered by the

Counci | .
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Agai n, copies of the transcript of the hearing
wll be filed the Handen Town Clerk's Ofice. And
adjourn or close the hearing. And thank you all for

your participation.

(Wher eupon the hearing ended at 3:55 p.m)
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STATE OF CONNECTI CUT

|, THERESA BERGSTRAND, a Licensed Prof essi onal
Reporter/ Conm ssioner within and for the State of
Connecticut, do hereby certify that | took the testinony
of all w tnesses, on JUNE 13, 2017 at Connecticut Siting
Council, Ten Franklin Square, New Britain, CIT.

| further certify that the above-naned deponent
was by ne first duly sworn to testify to the truth, the
whol e truth, and nothing but the truth concerning
hi s/ her knowl edge in the matter of the case of CELLCO
PARTNERSHI P D/ B/ A VERI ZON W RELESS APPLI CATI ON FOR
CERTI FI CATE OF ENVI RONMENTAL CAPABI LI TY AND PUBLI C NEED,
FOR THE CONSTRUCTI ON, MAI NTENANCE AND OPERATI ON OF A
TELECOMMUNI CATI ONS FACI LI TY LOCATED AT 208 Kl RK ROAD I N
HANVDEN, CONNECTI CUT.

| further certify that the within testi nony was
t aken by ne stenographically and reduced to typewitten
formunder ny direction by neans of conmputer assisted
transcription; and | further certify that said
deposition is a true record of the testinony given by
said w tness.

| further certify that | am neither counsel for,
related to, nor enployed by any of the parties to the
action in which this deposition was taken; and further,
that | amnot a relative or enployee of any attorney or
counsel enployed by the parties hereto, nor financially
or otherwse interested in the outconme of the action.

W TNESS ny hand and seal the 28TH day of June,
2017.

o haweae !i'?c.ﬁ-c?aﬂt?cf

Theresa Bergstrand, LSR
My conm ssion expires 3/31/ 2021
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